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PART A 
General Information

   Thom Masat
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PUBLIC ENTITY’S GENERAL 
INFORMATION 

REGISTERED NAME:       
National Arts Council of South Africa (NAC)

REGISTRATION NUMBER: 
1989/001413/08

OFFICE ADDRESS:      
66 Margaret Mcingana Street
Newtown 
Johannesburg
2113

POSTAL ADDRESS:    
PO Box 500
Newtown
2113

TELEPHONE NUMBER:    
(011) 838 1383 / 087 7000 683

FAX NUMBER:    
(011) 838 6363

EMAIL ADDRESS:    
info@nac.org.za

WEBSITE ADDRESS:   
www.nac.org.za   

EXTERNAL AUDITORS:   
The Auditor-General of South Africa  
61 Central Street 
Johannesburg 

BANKERS:    
ABSA Bank  
15 Alice Lane 
Sandton 
2196

COMPANY SECRETARY:  
First Corporate Secretaries 
July 2019 – July 2022
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LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/
ACRONYMS

AO 
Accounting Officer

AA 
Accounting Authority

ADO 
Arts Development Officer

AFS 
Annual Financial Statements

AGSA 
Auditor-General of South Africa

APP 
Annual Performance Plan

ARC 
Audit and Risk Committee

B-BBEE 
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

CBO 
Community-Based Organisation

CEO 
Chief Executive Officer

CFO 
Chief Financial Officer

COO 
Chief Operating Officer

DAC 
Department of Arts and Culture

DSAC 
Department of Sport, Arts and Culture

EA 
Executive Authority

GMS 
Grant Management System

HR 
Human Resources

IT 
Information Technology

MEC 
Member of Executive Council

MinMEC 
Meeting of Minister and MECs

MTEF 
Medium-Term Expenditure Framework

NAC 
National Arts Council 

NGO 
Non-Governmental Organisation

NPO 
Non-Profit Organisation

PACCs 
Provincial Arts and Culture Councils 

PFMA 
Public Finance Management Act

SMME 
Small, Medium and Micro Enterprises

SCM 
Supply Chain Management

TAU 
Technical Assistance Unit, a Division of the National 
Treasury

TIC 
Technical Implementation Committee

TR    
Treasury Regulations

• The Department of Arts and Culture is reflected in the 2019/2020 Annual Report.
• Where we mention the Minister, Nathi Mthethwa,  the Department will be reflected as The Department of Sport, Arts and Culture.
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At the beginning of the 
financial year, nobody could 
predict the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and the 

impact it was going to have on every 
level of society. As industries around the 
world shut down in a bid to flatten the 
curve of infections, locally we saw the 
unprecedented move by the South African 
government to go into lockdown towards 
the end of March. This of course had a 
major effect on the arts sector and truly 
tested the NAC in not only fulfilling its 
mandate, but to provide leadership to a 
sector in a complete state of flux. 

The pandemic has had the unfortunate consequence of 
exposing an unpreparedness across industries in times 
of crisis. However, for the NAC it has brought our true 
and vibrant colours to the surface as a resilient, flexible 
and agile entity that can withstand the challenges of 
unforeseen circumstances. 

It is important to note that the NAC has experienced a lot 
of positive change in the past year and the efforts by the 
Board to stabilise and strengthen the entity has served 
us well at a time when we need it most. In addition, the 
key focus areas we identified as part of the NAC strategy 
represent the fundamental pillars we need to stand 
strong in the current crisis and lays the foundation for a 
sustainable and future-fit entity. 
 

Mr Hartley Ngoato
Chairperson
National Arts Council

FOREWORD BY THE 
CHAIRPERSON
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The Young Dancers-BW



8 ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 | NAC

THE NAC STANDS WITH THE ARTS 
 
The NAC’s role in the current crisis is to direct, guide and 
carry the artists during this difficult time and we did this 
from the outset. We partnered with the Department of 
Arts and Culture (DAC) on a R150-million relief fund to 
assist artists, online exhibitions, virtual gallery tours and 
arts sales that benefit the fund. 

We also adjusted our strategy in the middle of the 
year, calling on artists to submit new proposals that 
are Covid-19 compliant. With most projects entailing 
gatherings, we had to find a way to ensure that artists 
continue to contribute to the mainstream of the arts 
within the framework of the lockdown restrictions. 

A key strategic focus area 
going forward will be 
on collaboration. This is 
particularly critical now. Part 
of the criteria that was used by 
the POCC, and approved by the 
Board, as part of adjudication 
is to ensure that artists and 
organisations on the ground 
collaborate with each other. We 
have insisted on handholding, 
especially in provinces where 
there are challenges in terms 
of resources and skills. We have 
also insisted that it is taken 
into account in the budget-
allocation, because training and 
the transfer of skills are critical. 

I have to commend the panels, 
who worked through the night 
to ensure that the new applications and calls would 
deliver on the reassigned dates and realigned strategies. 
The team, together with individual chairpersons of each 
sphere within the NAC, the supporting team from the 
ADOs and the panel of experts that they work with 
did an exceptional job in adjusting to the new way of 
doing things. I am impressed by their turnaround of 
adjudicating the applications within a very limited space 
of time and doing it remotely. They didn’t just deliver on 
time, but in full. 
 

CHALLENGES & SUCCESSES
 
In life nothing lasts forever and the same is true for 
the Covid-19 crisis – this too shall pass. The dust will 
eventually settle. It also true for the challenges that 
the NAC has faced in the past – periods of turbulence, 
allegations and many other issues. However, everyone 
can now see the true face of the NAC.  We are at a place 
where people can judge the NAC on its work. 

Yes, Covid-19 is a massive curve ball that demands an 
unprecedent response. But the NAC has proven that it 
can adapt, and it has also given us an opportunity to 
further strengthen our resilience and align our efforts 
towards building a sustainable arts sector. 

The NAC’s response shows 
that we are indeed in this 
together. I am proud to work 
with a dedicated team that 
despite all odds continue to 
keep their eye on the ball. The 
NAC team continues to focus 
on our collective objectives 
and refuses to be derailed by 
any arising issues. I also have to 
single out the communications 
department for doing an 
exceptional task in positively 
positioning the NAC and 
bringing us out of the dark so 
to speak. The perception out 
there of the NAC has come 
a long way and that is worth 
celebrating.  

I would also be remiss if I didn’t 
commend the Minister of Sport, Arts and Culture, Nathi 
Mthethwa, for his support and faith in us throughout 
the crisis. To be at the helm during this time is beyond 
difficult, but he has been steadfast and sure in his 
leadership. Together with the DAC team, the Minister 
continued to put his trust in us. It has truly kept the NAC 
motivated and on course to deliver its mandate and 
silence the naysayers with our work. 

“ In life, nothing lasts forever 
and the same is true for the 

Covid-19 crisis – this too shall 
pass. The dust will eventually 

settle. It also true for the 
challenges that the NAC has 
faced in the past – periods of 
turbulence, allegations and 
many other issues. However, 

everyone can now see the true 
face of the NAC.  We are at a 
place where people can judge 

the NAC on its work. ”
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We have just completed our audit at the NAC and 
irregular expenditure was incurred due to the 
disbursement made to orchestras on behalf of the 
Department of Arts and Culture.  The entity is directed 
by the DAC to make these funding disbursements, ring-
fenced under the heading of orchestra funds, for the 
2018/2019 and 2019/2020 financial years. We have taken 
steps to review this going forward. However, I am proud 
to announce that the entity received an unqualified clean 
audit.

ART WILL NEVER DIE 
 
There is no doubt that South Africa’s arts sector has been 
the hardest hit by lockdown restrictions. Overnight the 
country’s performing venues, theatres, galleries, clubs and 
festivals went into an indefinite lockdown – completely 
removing the income of the creative community. 

However, this crisis showed as what we knew all along – 
the art community is resilient and incredibly resourceful. 
It also has many champions working hard behind the 
scenes to offer relief to artists and keep the heart of the 
arts sector beating. 

I think it is important for our artists to know that the 
NAC is not just about grant-funding. We encourage them 
to come forward with new ideas, to approach us with 
innovative creative projects for the new normal. We want 
them to engage with us and know that we can only shape 
an inclusive, vibrant arts sector if we work together.

Yes, Covid-19 has not been a bed of roses and a lot of 
amazing projects did not see the light this year due to the 
impact of lockdown restrictions. It is discouraging, but I 
believe that the resilience of the arts will prevail. I believe 
that nothing can squash the passion of artists to reflect, 
create and inspire. In short, the arts will never die. 

............................................
Mr Hartley Ngoato
Chairperson
National Arts Council 

Lucas Favre
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When we entered the 2019/20 
financial year, little did 
we know how profoundly 
and fundamentally our 

landscape would change just a year down 
the line. Covid-19 has been an economic 
and philosophical disruptor in so many 
ways, and the arts and culture sector has 
certainly not been spared its devastating 
impact. 

Fortunately, during the year under review our entity 
had already begun the process of embracing the Fourth 
Industrial Revolution through digitising our internal 
systems and processes, placing us in a position to 
embrace the strange “new normal” we would soon 
(unknowingly) be faced with.

For one, we migrated to a new digital grant-management 
system to streamline and simplify our grant-making 
process. This has made disbursing funds far more 
efficient – by, for example, detecting and eliminating 
“double dipping” (the same beneficiary irregularly 
applying for funding multiple times) and thereby freeing 
up more funding for other, deserving beneficiaries. 

This tightening of our internal “housekeeping”, 
coupled with our nascent migration to cloud-based 
data storage and the ongoing upskilling of our staff, 
has unquestionably improved the way we do business – 
although there is still much to be done, particularly when 
it comes to our turnaround times.

The National Arts Council (NAC) can therefore look 
back at the year under review with a strong sense of 

Ms Rosemary Mangope 
Chief Executive Officer 
National Arts Council

FOREWORD BY THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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accomplishment, having achieved our 6th successive 
unqualified audit and having made inroads towards 
achieving our new five-year strategic vision with a 
sharpened sense of purpose. 

Part of that vision entails creating new ways of doing 
things when obstacles arise, such as the significant 
budget cut we had to weather along with other public 
entities as part of the administration’s austerity 
measures. As we know, the cost of living – and the 
cost of producing artistic 
and creative work – does not 
diminish even when budgets 
do, so any reduction in our 
allocation was bound to 
influence how we delivered on 
our mandate.

So, we knew it was going to 
be a difficult year, working 
within the prescripts of the 
Public Finance Management 
Act to use our reduced 
budget carefully to deliver the 
maximum possible impact for 
our sector.

Nonetheless, we are pleased 
to have been able to disburse 
a total of R80 756 020 to 
277 beneficiaries across our 
five funding programmes, in 
addition to bursary funding. 
We also met or exceeded our 
targets to contribute towards 
a more equitable arts, culture 
and heritage funding landscape 
by supporting projects in rural areas and less developed 
provinces, as well as organisations led by women, and 
projects that foregrounded indigenous art, the youth and 
people living with disabilities.

It is not only the quantity of funding and beneficiaries 
that is significant, however – the quality of these 
projects has been a particular source of pride, and here 
we have to thank our adjudication panels and council for 
their astute selection and oversight of worthy applicants.

Here, I think about how a three-year NAC grant has 
helped the Botsotso Ensemble, a new five-member 
Gauteng-based theatre group, to publish three new 
anthologies of contemporary poetry, short fiction 
and drama. Thanks to the funding, these energetic 
young people, all under 30, were also able to take free 
performances of prescribed works to schools while 
carrying out much-needed creative arts education, in 
partnership with the Gauteng Department of Education. 

I also think of how Port 
Elizabeth-based Eastern 
Cape Ladies of Song used 
their NAC funding for an 
amazing project that sought 
to empower young female 
musicians and musicians with 
disabilities with administrative, 
business and entrepreneurial 
skills – much needed in an 
industry where more freelance 
artists are plying their trade 
independently of any formal 
structures.

These are but two of the 
incredible, high-calibre projects 
that we are proud to have 
supported over the past 
financial year. What also makes 
these projects particularly 
heartening is the fact that 
upskilling and sustainability 
are foregrounded, which 
contributes to project and 
organisational longevity in our 
sector.

Of course, as we write this in a Covid-19-era reality, 
the status-quo apple cart has been upset and we are 
concerned about how the pandemic has decimated the 
livelihoods of many who ply their trade in our sector. 

But much as the pandemic has been devastating, it has 
also highlighted the significant roles the arts sector plays 
in entertaining, supporting, building, healing, educating, 
giving hope and inspiring people. One just has to look at 
how Master KG and Nomcebo Zikode’s hit Jerusalema 

“ We contributed 
towards a more 
equitable arts, 

culture and heritage 
funding landscape 

by supporting projects 
in rural areas and less 
developed provinces, as 
well as organisations led 
by women, and projects 

that foregrounded 
indigenous art, the 

youth and people living 
with disabilities. ”
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and the accompanying dance challenge have gone viral 
around the world as an example of the power of the 
arts to sustain and uplift us during trying times. This 
is tangible evidence that our sector can inspire, bring 
people together and create visibility for the creator/
innovator of the work

If there is any silver lining to 
be derived from the pandemic, 
it is that it has shown us – and 
the artistic ecosystem we 
are part of – how to innovate 
and be more output-driven, 
rather than measuring our 
productivity by the number of 
hours spent in the office. 

We have increased our use of 
YouTube to educate the sector 
on how and when to apply for 
funding, and have approved 
the creation of our in-house 
development unit, which will put in place mentorship 
and hand-holding mechanisms for less-resourced arts, 
culture and creative workers who have previously not 
had adequate access to our funding.

Challenges remain in this Covid-19 era, particularly in 
how we enable artists and audiences to access digital 
platforms and infrastructure, and we are looking at how 
we can decrease inequality in this sphere, such as by 
zero-rating our GMS platform for data.

Hurdles notwithstanding, we look forward to an exciting 
year ahead, filled with different ways of doing things, 

relooking our funding cycle to focus on supporting the 
longevity of projects (possibly through more multi-year 
funding), and proactively identifying projects that are 
“mission critical” for our sector. 

Chiefly, we are focusing 
on the digitisation of arts 
products, performances and 
services. The exciting and 
progressive work produced in 
the virtual domain by the likes 
of artist Marcus Neustetter, 
including for the International 
Symposium on Electronic 
Art, is the kind we believe 
will be anchoring our artistic 
landscape in future.

We know that creativity thrives 
when times are tough, and 
are excited about how we can 
cement our role in a social 

compact to transform livelihoods, spaces and localities 
where our artists are doing their excellent and important 
work. This, we are confident, will represent our mantra of 
“funding for impact” in action!

....................................................
Ms Rosemary Mangope 
Chief Executive Officer 
National Arts Council 

“ If there is any silver 
lining to be derived from 
the pandemic, it is that 
it has shown us – and 
the artistic ecosystem 

we are part of – how to 
innovate and be more 

output-driven... “
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Annie Spratt
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual 
report is consistent with the annual financial statements 
audited by the Auditor-General.

The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from 
any omissions.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with 
the guidelines on the annual report as issued by National 
Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been 
prepared in accordance with the GRAP standards 
applicable to the public entity.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements and for the 
judgements made in this information.  

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing, 
and implementing a system of internal control designed 
to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity 
and reliability of the performance information, the 
human resources information and the annual financial 
statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the 
operations, the performance information, the human 
resources information and the financial affairs of the 
public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

Yours faithfully, 

...............................................
Chief Executive Officer
Ms Rosemary Mangope
September 2020

...............................................
Chairperson of the Council
Mr Hartley Ngoato
September 2020

AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT

STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY 



By develop we mean:

• Identifying and nurturing artistic talent through 
funding the academic and professional development 
of arts practitioners, managers and support 
practitioners

• Fostering mentorship and coachings as ways of 
improving the quality of artistic expression

• Creating opportunities for the transfer of knowledge 
and experience through regional and international 
exchanges

• Building capacity and expertise In the arts through 
artistic, entrepreneurial, management, and technical 
development as well as copyright protection

• Growing South Africa’s wealth as measured by its 
great works of artistic expression

By support we mean:

• Contributing to the development and effective 
utilisation of sustainable infrastructure that enables 
artistic expression

• Funding worthwhile artistic endevours that would 
otherwise not have been possible

• Provide opportunities for people to access the 
financial means to explore and experience the arts

• Provide opportunities for people to access the space 
to explore and experience the arts

• Collaborating with other important stakeholders to 
create a vibrant artistic ecosystem

• Supporting the DAC in the implementation of the 
Revised White Paper on Arts, Culture and Heritage 
as well as other related strategies, especially those 
focused on enhancing social inclusion

15ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 | NAC

The NAC’s vision is – a vibrant, sustainable arts community that enriches lives through 
the free and creative expression of South Africa’s cultures / through strengthening 
artistic and cultural creation.

Through this we will be a catalyst for social inclusion and contribute to the 
evolutionary development of a unique, diverse and inclusive South African Identity.

The NAC’s Mission is to leverage energy, partnerships and resources to develop, 
support, promote and advance the arts.

MISSION

VISION

STRATEGIC 
OVERVIEW
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By promote we mean:

• Facilitating access to markets and economic 
sustainability for artists

• Showcasing the talent of artists at high profile events
• Communicating the message that imagination, 

creativity and design are vital ingredients that 
contribute to economic, social, emotional and 
spiritual growth

• Developing future audiences for the arts
• Advocating for art and artists as important 

contributors to South African society

By advance we mean:

• Informing policy-making through research, and the 
generation of information, intelligence and insights 

• Providing economic and artistic opportunities for 
disadvantaged and rural communities, women and 
the youth to grow, develop their potential and find 
gainful employment

• Upholding and promoting the rights of all to freedom 
in their practice of the arts

The stated values of the NAC are: 

VALUES

ACCOUNTABILITY

RESULT ORIENTATION 

PROFESSIONALISM AND INTEGRITY 

MAKING A DIFFERENCE

EMPLOYEE FULFILMENT 

EXCELLENCE AND SYNERGY

TRANSPARENCY AND OPENNESS 
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The NAC derives its mandate from 
the National Arts Council Act 
(No. 56 of 1997, as amended). 
The Act mandates the NAC to:

• Provide and encourage the provision of opportunities 

for persons to practice the arts;

• Promote the appreciation, understanding and 

enjoyment of the arts;

• Promote the general application of the arts in the 

community; 

• Foster the expression of a national identity and 

consciousness by means of the arts;

• Uphold and promote the right of any person to 

freedom in the practice of the arts;

• Give the historically disadvantaged such additional 

help and resources as required to give them greater 

access to the arts;

• Address historical imbalances in the provision of 

infrastructure for the promotion of the arts;

• Promote and facilitate national and international 

liaison between individuals and institutions in respect 

of the arts; and

• Develop and promote the arts and encourage 

excellence in regard to these.

The NAC is wholly funded by an annual budget allocation 
from the Department of  Arts and Culture (DAC). In 
terms of the Act, 70% must be distributed through grants 
in support of the arts and the remaining 30% is used for 
administration.

Over and above the specific stipulations of the NAC Act 
and related regulations, the NAC as a Schedule 3 Public 
Entity of the PFMA must comply with:

• The Promotion of Access to Information Act (No. 2 

of 2000);

• Promotion of Equality and Prevention of Unfair 

Discrimination Act (No. 4 of 2000);

• The Public Audit Act (No. 25 of 1994);

• Labour Legislation including the Basic Conditions of 

Employment Act (No. 75 of 1997), Labour Relations 

Act (No. 66 of 1995) and the Employment Equity Act 

(No. 55 of 1998);

• The Occupational Health and Safety Act (No. 85 of 

1993);

• The Income Tax Act (No. 58 of 1962 as amended) and 

all subsequent Taxation Laws Amendment Acts;

• The Revenue Laws Amendment Act, 1996;

• The Skills Development Act (No. 97 of 1998);

• The Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act 

(No. 5 of 2000);

• The Remuneration of Public Office Bearers Act (No. 

20 of 1998, as amended); 

• The Unemployment Insurance Act (No. 63 of 2001);

• The Division of Revenue Act (No. 5 of 2012);

• The Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 

(No. 53 of 2003); and

• The National Credit Act (No. 34 of 2005).

LEGISLATIVE AND 
OTHER MANDATES
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PART B 
Performance Information

Luc Van Loon
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The AGSA/auditor currently performs the necessary audit 
procedures on the performance information to provide 
reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. 
The audit conclusion on the performance against 
predetermined objectives is included in the report to 
management, with material findings being reported under 

the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report on other 
legal and regulatory requirements section of the auditor’s 
report.

Refer to pages 85-88 for the full Auditor’s Report, 
published as Part E: Financial Information.

2.1.  Internal Environmental Analysis

Towards the end of the period under review,  the country, 
the world and consequently the NAC saw radical changes 
to both its internal and external environments. The global 
COVID-19 pandemic and the 
measures taken to restrict its 
rapid spread wreaked havoc on 
many organisational plans and 
ways of working. All aspects 
mentioned in this analysis were 
impacted by this drastic change 
as the economy went into 
lockdown towards the end of 
March. The analysis reflected 
below mentions these changes, 
however the bulk of the analysis 
focusses on the period preceding the lockdown. 

Notwithstanding the above, the financial year 2019 – 2020 
proved to be a more productive time for the entity. Some 

uncertainties from the previous cycle was settling down 
and two staff members joined in mission critical positions. 
A staff culture-change programme was embarked on and 

an enhanced version of the 
2020-2025 strategy was created 
to ensure that the entity delivers 
on its mandate. 

The enhanced strategy was 
simplified into a strategy 
dashboard to give all in the 
entity the opportunity to work 
off the same script and attain 
shared understanding of what 
the entity means by impactful 

funding. The entity is now in a position to fund for impact 
and to measure, evaluate and monitor its impact on the 
sector.

AUDITOR’S REPORT: 
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

SITUATIONAL 
ANALYSIS

“ A staff culture-change 
programme was also embarked 
on and an enhanced version of 

the 2020-2025 strategy was 
created to ensure the entity 
delivers on its mandate.  ”
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2.2.   NAC Departments  

LEADERSHIP
SUCCESSES:
• Current leadership has been stable, giving the 

entity an opportunity to do systemic planning;
• The stability of leadership has enhanced the 

processes within the entity
• The current leadership has been able to create a 

forward-looking strategy that tries to deliver on 
the mandate set out by the DAC for the NAC

• The current leadership is versed in the 
development of arts councils on the global front 
through board membership on entities such as 
the International Federation of Arts Councils and 
Culture Agencies

• The Council has been very instrumental in 
changing the way the entity functions

• Adjudication panels are structured to get leaders 
in the sector to make decisions on funding to 
ensure quality projects are realised

CHALLENGES:
• Remote working conditions resulting from the 

national lockdown brought a radical change in 
working conditions and as such required new 
protocols

• The entity is not yet completely in a position to 
embrace a fully 4IR environment, however the 
remote working has hastened the preparations

• The entity continues the process of crafting 
improved processes to improve efficiency 

ARTS DEVELOPMENT
SUCCESSES:
• The unit has continued to support the sector 

through grant funding in the year under review
• ADOs have deep institutional knowledge which 

aids in the verification, and review processes that 
are central to the NAC’s grant funding

• The unit is in the process of digitising the grant 
life-cycle

CHALLENGES:
• The unit is focused on becoming more than just a 

grant-maker, through leveraging partnerships on 
behalf of beneficiaries which requires new kinds 
of skills

• The ADOs have to see to the development needs 
of the sector, which are far-reaching

• Digitisation has to be prioritised. This requires 
more internal training 

FINANCE
SUCCESSES:
• A new CFO has been appointed with experience 

in HR and IT
• A clean audit was secured

CHALLENGES:
• The GMS is a work in progress and the next area 

to integrate is the finance division into the grant 
life-cycle;

• Operational expenditure remains too high but 
plans to reduce this are underway

• The entity has experienced substantial budget cuts 
and so has to find ways of operating under these 
constrained conditions
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HR
SUCCESSES:
• The Culture Change phase 1 has started yielding 

results;
• A second phase culture change process 

continued in the current financial year
• A new KPI system was introduced in the form of 

the Balanced Scorecard

CHALLENGES:
• Organisational culture change processes are a 

constant in a high stress environment such as 
ours

IT
SUCCESSES:
• The GMS system is broadly in use and assisting 

towards over-all digitisation
• Record-keeping has been improved as a result of 

using the GMS system
• A Document Storage Management system and 

policy has been created
• The next step is a comprehensive ITC strategy 

to cater to the needs of the entity as the 
environment changes

CHALLENGES:
• The entity needs to do more to embrace 4IR 

given the new working environment
• The GMS itself is still in the process of being 

improved to fully cater to the needs of an end-
to-end digital system as well as improving its 
user-friendliness

COMMUNICATIONS
SUCCESSES:
• A Communications Manager has been appointed
• A series of beneficiary profiles are leading the 

communications strategy
• A leading industry career expo was attended 

that gave the NAC direct access to some of their 
younger constituents

• An events calendar has been designed and is 
loaded on the website on a monthly basis

• A series of ‘how-to’ videos have been developed 
to familiarise prospective applicants with NAC 
programmes and the GMS portal

CHALLENGES:
• The NAC has to do more to communicate 

more often, more effectively and on multiple 
platforms 

• Often beneficiaries neglect to mention the NAC 
in their promotional material which leads to lost 
opportunities for celebrating the good work that 
the entity does
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2.3  SWOT Analysis

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS

• The economic depression and government’s competing 
priorities may result in the reduction of the entity’s 
budget thus limiting opportunities in the arts and 
culture sector as a whole

• The benefits of arts funding have not been embedded 
in our society and as such arts funding is not 
sufficiently valued

• There is a constant need to tighten the grant making 
process to eliminate errors to minimise public 
negativity 

• Government fiscus is under strain. The current revenue 
stream is not guaranteed and may decline

• The sector might express loss of faith in the entity due 
to stringent application processes which are however 
necessary to ensure impactful funding

• The NAC could be a leader in the arts sector and a 
central grant funding portal 

• The entity could successfully advocate for the 
centrality of the arts and  culture in the development 
of society,  demonstrating its valued add

• The NAC is in a unique position to create lasting 
transformation in the sector

• The NAC could lead digital innovation in the cultural 
sector

• The NAC has the resources to do systematic 
development of beneficiaries in the sector

• Grant disbursement in the current epoch is evolving. 
This requires constant investment in training to ensure 
utilisation of best practice management tools  

• The process of grant funding has high stakes and so the 
work can be stressful and make high demands on the team

• The entity is not yet fully digitally proficient
• All organisations are under pressure to produce higher 

levels of innovation and the NAC is no exception
• Weak knowledge and utilisation of digital systems in 

the arts and culture sector as a whole 
• The sector is dynamic and it can be a strain to 

constantly evolve to stay ahead of the curve

• The entity is well established in the sector as a grant 
disbursing agency of the Department of Arts and 
Culture

• The entity has deep and valuable institutional 
knowledge

• The GMS provides improved and faster ways of working 
and provides an extensive database of the sector

• The entity has a secure stream of revenue from DAC 
and there is a strong relationship of respect and trust 
with DAC in place

• The NAC has succeeded in showcasing South African 
culture both locally and abroad
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2.4  External Environmental Analysis

POLITICAL
A development within the political landscape is the 
immanent amalgamation of the funding entities as 
per the White paper. This will see the governance 
structure change and might lead to new strategic 
objectives.

The NAC is working under an Act that was created 
at its inception in 1997. The NAC will commence 
with a consultative process with stakeholders 
to give input into how the Act could be updated 
to speak better to the contemporary world. It 
is important that the NAC plays a leading role 
in informing policy and remains abreast of any 
changes to its political environment.

A further political factor is the, sometimes, 
contradicting mandates of showcasing excellence, 
while developing the sector, and having a clearly 
defined and balanced national footprint. The NAC 
can’t be all things to all people, even though as 
the national implementing partner of the DAC, it 
is often expected to be. This expectation can be 
better balanced by doing structured development 
work, while allowing funding of projects that give 
South African art global recognition.

The NAC is in the process of strengthening 
partnerships with provinces to do more develop-
ment work across the country.

ECONOMIC
Given the constraints on the national budget in 
general, it is essential for the NAC to prepare itself 
to be a leader and more efficient organisation, not 
only in governance, but also in the way funding is 
perceived.  Funding will have to be perceived as 
a relationship that enables, but is not responsible 
for, sustainability. It is a challenge for the entity to 
deliver on its full mandate with the limited funding 
it is given and the vastness of its obligation to the 
country.

The organisational and governance structure is 
currently very heavy, and should be reviewed in 
order for the expenditure to better align with 

similar institutions. There is a clear threat of budget 
cuts to all entities, which necessitates a review of 
governance structures. 

The entity has and should continue to invest 
in flagship projects that can attain high levels 
of impact and have a multiplier effect on the 
arts sector. It is not easy to create employment 
inside a sector that mainly relies on seasonal, and 
freelance work. As such the projects funded by 
the entity should have clear job creation and pay 
it forward imperatives that can expand the impact 
of the funding and provide income generating 
opportunities.

SOCIAL
A key focus of the DAC and its entities is 
transformation of the sector and greater access to 
the arts for all South African citizens. The NAC has 
not been able to achieve sufficient impact
in all provinces and a lot still needs to be done 
for transformation to be tangible throughout the 
sector.

A new vision of funding should be promoted that 
moves beneficiaries from receiving ‘hand-outs’, 
to receiving ‘hand-ups’. This might necessitate a 

change in the language around funding, away from 
‘beneficiaries’ and for the NAC to see itself not as 
a grant-maker, but as an investor in the success of 
those they fund. In that way, the grant-making will 
become part of the larger arts ecosystem. 

It is vital that more is done to develop beneficiaries 
and to continue to seek worthy applicants from 
the under-funded provinces, given that the current 
state of funding is skewed towards the metros.
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2.5.  Conclusion

There are a number of positive changes that took place 
in the year under review, these include but are not 
limited to:

• Stabilising the leadership
• Promoting the arts through showcasing excellence; 

developing the sector; enhancing the understanding 
of the place of arts and culture in building a healthy 
society; and doing capacity building

• Enhancing the grant-making systems
• Employing experts in management positions
• Improving on-the-ground relationships with provinces 

in order to ensure more representation by under-
funded provinces in beneficiary cohorts

• Improving organisational well-being

In order to maintain the positive progress within the entity 
a number of changes will have to take place in the new 
financial year. These include but are not limited to:

• Fully embracing digitisation
• Promoting innovation and creativity in all its staff 

members
• Structured development of beneficiaries
• Actively seeking out partnerships to leverage funding and 

enhance the role that the NAC can play in the sector
• Creating an end-to-end digital system, while 

continuing to allow beneficiaries to have access 
through a zero-rated platform

• Actively working towards positive marketing of the 
entity through newsletters, social media and press 
partnerships

TECHNOLOGICAL
Towards the end of the period under review the 
workplace became exclusively digital as remote 
working was enforced. This necessitates an urgent 
up-skilling of all team members and a review of all 
systems. The NAC is working on creating an end-
to-end digital system for grant-making, reporting, 
finance and monitoring. This will mean a sharper 
focus on knowledge management and document 
storage management within the entity to leverage 
on its archive and database. 

The entity has to invest in the appropriate solutions 
for Cloud-based computing in order to allow for 

faster, more efficient collaborative working within 
and across departments. 

It is essential to promote digital access for all to its 
grant-making system by partnering with network 
providers for a zero-rated platform. There is more 
pressure now to ensure that the digital divide 
does not widen. The NAC can play a role in up-
skilling its constituents in the digital world.  It is 
through partnerships with the appropriate ICT and 
innovative organisations that the NAC can play a 
leading role in a national digital migration.

LEGAL
The entity continues to create and review policies 
to facilitate a well governed working structure for 
all its operations.  It would be useful, in future, to 
consider legal knowledge to be present internally.

ENVIRONMENTAL
It is crucial that the NAC sees itself as part of the 
solution to combat climate change. As such one 
of the NAC values is ‘environmental value’ against 
which applicants are adjudicated. 
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3.1   Programme 1: Arts Administration 

For the period under review, the Arts Administration Programme had the following objectives: 

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 
BY PROGRAMME

GOAL 1

The period under review ended with a dramatically 
changed world giving rise to a so-called ‘new normal’.  As 
the nation went into lockdown and all interactions shifted 
to digital platforms the arts experienced a crisis unlike any 
in our time. Opportunities for gathering and collaboration 
all but dried up and those without access to the internet 
found themselves further marginalised.

However, it is accurate to say that the role of the arts in 
society has been in crisis for some time now as our lives  
have become increasingly dominated by finance and 
corporatisation. 

The radical shift in our daily lives and in the workplace 
presents an opportunity for the arts to once again
play its designated role of healing, creation and bringing
society closer together.

The NAC has the ability, through its positioning as an 
anchor organisation in the sector, to lead the repositioning 
and re-energising of the sector specifically through 
programmes that are aimed at stimulating the sector back 
to work during and after the COVID-19 pandemic period.

2.6.  Key Policy Developments and Legislative Changes

There were no key policy developments or policy changes that have affected the NAC’s operations during the period under review. 

CREATE A VIBRANT, INCLUSIVE AND TRANSFORMED ARTS AND CULTURE SECTOR 

This goal represents the more traditional NAC grant-making role and is important be-
cause content creation and its distribution lies at the heart of the creative industries.  It is 
focused on driving content creation and distribution at both an individual and an organi-
sational level. The goal further aims to promote excellence and innovation in the creation 
of new works as well as to develop and support the platforms required to showcase and 
exhibit the arts.

GOAL 2 ACHIEVE GLOBAL RECOGNITION FOR OUR UNIQUE SOUTH AFRICAN ARTS AND 
CULTURE

This goal aims to address some of the legacies of the previous dispensation through a 
positive focus on content creation and the distribution of art by focusing mainly on the 
disadvantaged and marginalised sectors of South African society. It also aims to support 
South African indigenous art forms, the youth, disabled people, women and marginalised 
communities, particularly those in rural and peri-urban areas. 
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GOAL 3

GOAL 4

DEVELOP A SUSTAINABLE CAPABILITY THAT ENABLES THE ARTS TO ENTERTAIN, 
ENRICH AND INSPIRE

This goal focuses on the key resources required for sustainable arts practice – infra-
structure, people, funds, skills and information. These are the basic building blocks and 
foundational capabilities for a sustainable arts sector. Through support for the provision 
of training and education, this goal supports the allocation of developmental grants and 
bursaries to help grow the talents of art practitioners and other professionals such as 
community arts centre managers, theatre technicians and arts administrators. Supporting 
capacity-building activities ensures that South Africa has a sustainable base of talent and 
leaders to see us through to the next stage of our cultural development and the fourth 
industrial revolution. The training also incorporates e-learning to reach a wider potential 
audience at a lower cost.

ACHIEVE INCREASED ACCESS TO MARKETS AND ENABLE CREATIVE ENGAGEMENT 
FOR SOUTH AFRICAN ARTS AND ARTISTS

Growing and creating access to markets has been identified as an important need of 
emerging artists.  Supporting art platforms which showcase artists’ work has a dual 
benefit in terms of creating access to markets and building awareness of the arts in a 
readily accessible way - in this way audiences are created and expanded.  International 
and regional co-operation is also critically important for facilitating access to markets. 
Arts exchanges enable the NAC to collaborate with other governments and government 
agencies to promote South African arts in new markets. This facilitates personal growth 
and development; showcases South Africa’s creativity and artistic expression; promotes the 
country as a destination for tourists; and cultivates international audiences and markets.

The NAC supported the creation of new work and its distribution by individual artists and 
organisations through funding. To this end, the NAC has supported 85 individuals and 192 
organisations in support of this goal. 

The NAC prioritised funding to increase support of indigenous art forms and to 
acknowledge diverse arts forms in our society. 22.24% of the fund was allocated to support 
indigenous arts forms.  Targeted rural provinces and areas were supported with 25% of 
the funding with the aim of redressing geographical inequality. 19.94% was allocated to 
organisations led by women and women in the arts towards driving transformation of our 
society. Organisations supporting youth received 29.08% and 3.74% of the funding was 
allocated to organisations working with people living with disabilities. 

The NAC supported projects that enable arts development and growth through capacity 
building and also focused on capabilities required to sustain art practice in terms of 
supply and demand. As part of the goal focusing on sustainable capability, the NAC 
funded bursaries that would support the growth of talent as well as the development and 
enhancement of skills for arts administrators and practitioners. 16.19% of the fund was 
allocated to funding local postgraduate and institutional block bursaries. 



29ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 | NAC

STRATEGIC GOAL 1: CREATE A VIBRANT, INCLUSIVE AND TRANSFORMED ARTS AND CULTURE SECTOR  

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

1.Percentage 
of disburse-
ments made 
in accor-
dance with 
the agreed 
disbursement 
criteria per 
annum

Percentage 
of project 
disburse-
ment made 
in accor-
dance with 
the agreed 
disbursement 
criteria per 
annum

100% of dis-
bursements 
to be made in 
accordance 
with agreed 
disbursement 
criteria

100% of dis-
bursements 
to be made in 
accordance 
with agreed 
disbursement 
criteria per 
annum

100% of dis-
bursements 
to be made in 
accordance 
with agreed 
disbursement 
criteria per 
annum

None None Not Applicable

2.Identify 
and fund 
strategic 
initiatives per 
annum 

Number of 
strategic 
initiatives 
supported 
per annum

12 flagship 
projects 
identified and 
supported, 
ISEA, 
Liberation 
Project, 
MIDM, 
Forgotten 
Angle 
Collaborative 
and all 
projects 
funded under 
the Strategic 
Initiatives 
Programme

Identify and 
support 2 
strategic 
initiatives per 
annum

Strategic 
initiatives not 
identified and 
supported

Strategic 
initiatives not 
identified and 
supported

Flagship 
projects 
identified and 
supported

The NAC has intro-
duced the funding 
programme for Strate-
gic Initiatives to fund 
projects of a strategic 
nature. Regrettably, 
applications that came 
through the open 
call did not yield the 
desired outcome of 
funding projects of 
strategic nature to 
meet the indicators in 
the Annual Perfor-
mance Plan.  The NAC 
will be introducing a 
Development Unit that 
will work with part-
ners in this financial 
year to implement 
strategic projects 
with the support of 
the Strategic Initiative 
Panel. 2 projects were 
identified during 
quarter 2, but, due to 
budgetary constraints, 
the partnerships could 
not be implemented

TABLE 1:  ARTS ADMINISTRATION: TARGETS AND ACHIEVEMENTS                 
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STRATEGIC GOAL 1: CREATE A VIBRANT, INCLUSIVE AND TRANSFORMED ARTS AND CULTURE SECTOR  

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

3. Ensure an  
equitable 
allocation of 
project and 
grant funding 
across all 
programmes 
and NAC 
strategic 
imperatives 
per annum

Percentage 
of grants 
and project 
funding 
allocation 
across all 
disciplines 
and NAC 
strategic 
imperatives 
per annum

52.13% 
allocated 
for arts 
promotions. 
41.06% for 
creation of 
new work 
and 27.20% 
for capacity 
building

Allocation 
of grants/
projects 
per funding 
session: 
50% for arts 
promotion, 
30% for 
creation of 
new work 
and 20% 
for capacity 
building  per 
annum

51.16% 
allocated for 
arts promo-
tions. 28.02% 
for creation 
of new work 
and 21.10% 
for capacity 
building

1.16% more 
allocated 
for arts 
promotions. 
1.98% less 
for creation 
of new work 
and 1.10% 
more for 
capacity 
building

0.97% less 
allocated 
for arts 
promotions. 
13.04 % less  
for creation 
of new work 
and 6.1% less 
for capacity 
building

More projects 
allocated for arts 
promotions and 
capacity building 
and less for creation 
of new work. The 
Innovation, Design and 
Creation Programme 
allocated less funding 
as compared to the 
other 4 funding 
programmes.  
Furthermore, there 
is a variance in the 
percentage reported 
in quarter 2 due to the 
approval of additional 
funding programmes in 
quarter 3, namely, Arts 
Organisation Funding 
and Innovation, Design 
and Creation. The 
approval in quarter 
3 has influenced 
the final figure as 
reported in the 
annual performance 
information report
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STRATEGIC GOAL 2: ACHIEVE GLOBAL RECOGNITION FOR OUR UNIQUE SOUTH AFRICAN ARTS AND CULTURE 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

4.Allocate 
and disburse 
funding to 
support 
indigenous 
art forms 
per funding 
session

Percentage 
of funding 
allocated  
to support 
indigenous 
art forms 
per funding 
session

 20.50% 
of funding 
allocated
to support 
indigenous 
art forms

6% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
indigenous 
art forms 
per funding 
session

22.24% of 
funding 
allocated
to support 
indigenous 
art forms

16.24% more 
funding 
allocated
to support 
indigenous 
art forms

1.74 % more 
funding 
allocated
to support 
indigenous 
art forms

A good response 
of applications 
was received for 
the development 
and promotion of 
indigenous art forms. 
Furthermore, there 
is a variance in the 
percentage reported 
in quarter 2 due 
to the approval of 
additional funding 
programmes in 
quarter 3, namely, 
Arts Organisation 
Funding and 
Innovation, Design 
and Creation. The 
approval in quarter 
3 has affected 
the final figure as 
reported in the 
annual performance 
information report

5.Allocate 
and disburse 
funding to 
support 
projects in 
targeted 
rural areas 
or provinces 
per funding 
session

Percentage 
of funding 
allocated  
to support 
targeted 
rural areas/ 
provinces 
per funding 
session

28.09% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
projects in
targeted 
rural areas/
provinces

25% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
projects in 
targeted 
rural areas/
provinces 
per funding 
session

25% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
projects in
targeted 
rural areas/
provinces

None 3.09% less 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
projects in
targeted 
rural areas/
provinces

A good number of 
applications received 
from targeted rural 
areas/provinces.  
Furthermore, there 
is a variance in the 
percentage reported 
in quarter 2 due to the 
approval of additional 
funding programmes in 
quarter 3, namely, Arts 
Organisation Funding 
and Innovation, Design 
and Creation. The 
approval in quarter 
3 has influenced 
the final figure as 
reported in the 
annual performance 
information report

TABLE 2:  ARTS ADMINISTRATION
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STRATEGIC GOAL 2: ACHIEVE GLOBAL RECOGNITION FOR OUR UNIQUE SOUTH AFRICAN ARTS AND CULTURE 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

6.Allocate 
and disburse 
funding to 
support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations 
per funding 
session

Percentage 
of  funding 
allocated  
to support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations 
per funding 
session

26.26% fund-
ing allocated 
to support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations

10% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations 
per funding 
session

19.94% 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations

9.94% more 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations

6.32% less  
funding 
allocated 
to support 
women and 
women-led 
organisations

Women and women-
led organisations 
submitted a 
good number 
of applications. 
Furthermore, there 
is a variance in the 
percentage reported 
in quarter 2 due 
to the approval of 
additional funding 
programmes in 
quarter 3, namely, 
Arts Organisation 
Funding and 
Innovation, Design 
and Creation. The 
approval in quarter 
3 has affected 
the final figure as 
reported in the 
annual performance 
information report

7.Allocate 
and disburse 
funding to 
support 
organisations 
working 
with people 
living with 
disabilities 
and 
individuals 
living with 
disabilities 
per funding 
session

Percentage 
of  funding 
allocated  
to support 
organisations 
working 
with people 
living with 
disabilities 
and 
individuals 
living with 
disabilities 
per funding 
session

 6.02% of 
funding 
allocated
to support 
organisations 
working
with people 
living with 
disabilities, 
and individ-
uals living 
with
disabilities

2% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
organisations 
working 
with people 
living with 
disabilities, 
and 
individuals 
living with 
disabilities 
per funding 
session

3.74% of 
funding 
allocated
to support 
organisations 
working
with people 
living with 
disabilities, 
and 
individuals 
living with
disabilities

1.74% more 
funding 
allocated
to support 
organisations 
working
with people 
living with 
disabilities, 
and 
individuals 
living with
disabilities

2.28% less 
funding 
allocated
to support 
organisations 
working
with people 
living with 
disabilities, 
and 
individuals 
living with
disabilities

A good number of 
applications received 
from organisations 
working with people 
living with disabilities 
and individuals living 
with disabilities.  
Furthermore, there 
is a variance in the 
percentage reported 
in quarter 2 due to the 
approval of additional 
funding programmes in 
quarter 3, namely, Arts 
Organisation Funding 
and Innovation, Design 
and Creation. The 
approval in quarter 
3 has influenced 
the final figure as 
reported in the 
annual performance 
information report
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STRATEGIC GOAL 2: ACHIEVE GLOBAL RECOGNITION FOR OUR UNIQUE SOUTH AFRICAN ARTS AND CULTURE 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

8.Allocate 
and disburse 
funding to 
projects 
that benefit 
the youth 
per funding 
session

Percentage  
of  funding 
allocated  
to support 
projects 
benefitting 
the youth 
per funding 
session

32.26% of 
funding 
allocated
to support 
projects 
benefiting 
the youth

18% of 
funding 
allocated 
to support 
projects 
benefiting 
the youth 
per funding 
session

29.08% of 
funding 
allocated
to support 
projects 
benefiting 
the youth

11.08% more 
funding 
allocated
to support 
projects 
benefiting 
the youth

3.18% less  
funding 
allocated
to support 
projects 
benefiting 
the youth

 A great response of 
applications received 
that benefit the youth. 
Furthermore, there 
is a variance in the 
percentage reported 
in quarter 2 due to the 
approval of additional 
funding programmes 
in quarter 3, namely, 
Arts Organisation 
Funding and Innovation, 
Design and Creation. 
The approval in 
quarter 3 has affected 
the final figure as 
reported in the 
annual performance 
information report

STRATEGIC GOAL 3: SUSTAINABLE ARTS CAPABILITY 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

9.Support 
local and 
international 
bursaries 
in the arts 
per funding 
session

Percentage 
of funding 
allocated 
to local and 
international 
bursaries 
per funding 
session

20.28% of 
funding allo-
cated to
bursaries
approved

20% of fund-
ing allocated 
to
bursaries
approved

16.19% of fund-
ing allocated to 
approved
bursaries

3.81% less 
funding allo-
cated to
bursaries

4.09% less 
funding allo-
cated to
bursaries

Decrease in num-
ber of bursaries 
approved due 
to cancellation 
of funding of 
international 
bursaries due to 
the COVID-19 
pandemic, which 
restricted inter-
national travel

10. Fund 
training and 
development 
programmes 
in the arts 
per annum 

Number of 
training and 
development 
programmes 
developed 
and 
successfully 
implemented 
per annum  

7 training and 
development 
programmes  
funded and 
implemented 
by Moving 
Into Dance

Fund 7 
training and 
development 
programmes 
per annum

40 training and 
development 
programmes 
funded

33 more 
training and 
development 
programmes 
funded

33 more 
training and 
development 
programmes 
funded

The creation 
for funding 
programme for 
capacity building 
has yielded 
an increased 
support for 
capacity building 
projects

TABLE 3:  ARTS ADMINISTRATION                 
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STRATEGIC GOAL 3: SUSTAINABLE ARTS CAPABILITY 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

11.Fund the 
training of 
community 
art centre 
managers 
to ensure 
community 
art centres 
function 
at an 
acceptable 
level per 
annum

Number of 
community 
art centres 
considered 
to be 
functioning 
at an 
acceptable 
level per 
annum

The training 
of 8 
community 
art centre  
managers 
supported 
through 
the Eastern 
Cape Arts 
and Culture 
Council

Fund the 
training of 7 
community 
art centre 
managers 
per annum

15 Community 
Art centre 
managers 
funded through 
the Wushini Art 
centre

8 more 
Community 
Art centre 
managers 
trained 
during the 
financial year

7 more 
community 
art centre 
managers 
trained

The Wushini 
Art centre 
target more  
community art 
centre managers 
to be trained 
throughout the 
province of 
KwaZulu-Natal

12.Establish 
strategic 
partnerships 
for the 
development 
of arts 
education 
per annum 

Number of 
partnerships 
established 
per annum

Partnerships 
established 
with 
Masifundisane 
Visual Arts 
Project and 
the Visual Arts 
Foundation 
Project

Establish 1 
partnerships 
with a 
relevant 
structures 
per 
annum

Partnerships 
established 
with Ithemba 
Lomphakati 
(craft design, 
business and 
entre-preneurial 
skills) and  Peo 
Entle (pedagogy 
of theatre in 
education and 
process drama)

2 
partnerships 
established

None Not Applicable

TABLE 4:  ARTS ADMINISTRATION            

STRATEGIC GOAL 4: MARKET ACCESS AND ENRICHMENT THROUGH ARTS AND CULTURE 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
2018/19 to 
2019/20
(if applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

13.Establish 
partnerships 
with relevant 
structures 
that promote 
nation 
building and 
social 
cohesion per 
annum 

Partnerships 
established 
with a relevant 
structure that 
promotes 
nation 
building and 
social 
cohesion per 
annum

Partnership
established 
with relevant 
structures
that promotes
nation build-
ing and social 
cohesion, 
namely, The 
Paleontolog-
ical Society 
Trust and 
Kgabo-Tona 
Entertainment 
and Projects 
(Pty) Ltd 

Partnerships 
established 
with a  
relevant 
structures 
that promote 
nation 
building 
and social 
cohesion per 
annum

Partnerships 
established with 
relevant structures 
that promote social 
cohesion and nation 
building, namely 
Izigi  Performing 
Arts (promotion 
of Isindebele as an 
official language and 
Eastern Cape Ladies 
of Song (equipping 
women musicians and 
musicians that are 
living with disabilities 
with administrative, 
business and 
entrepreneurial skills)

None None Not 
Applicable
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3.2  Arts Administration and Funding 

Following a strategy review in August 2017 and its approval 
in March 2018, the National Arts Council is at a critical 
juncture in reinventing itself to remain relevant in an 
ever-changing art, culture and heritage sector. The NAC 
has remained committed to supporting the objectives 
of the Department of Arts and Culture, such as social 
cohesion and nation-building; focus on Africa; promoting 
community arts; arts education; and arts and cultural 
development.  In maintaining this support and addressing 
some of the challenges previously experienced, the 
entity has begun to implement its strategic realignment. 
Strategy realignment has showcased the importance of 
recognising the breadth of the arts sector and has forced 
the organisation to examine the extended value-chain in 
the sector.  

Following the strategic realignment process, the NAC 
introduced new goals which speak to country imperatives 
and the needs of the sector.  Furthermore, the NAC has 
moved away from a discipline-based approach of funding 
and introduced a programmatic approach which will 
see funding allocation to beneficiaries located within 
specified programmes instead of individual disciplines.  
Invitations for funding focused on the new programmes, 
namely, Social Cohesion and Nation-Building; Innovation 
Design and Creation; Arts Platforms, Showcases, 
Exhibitions and Festivals, Strategic Initiatives; as well 
as Capacity Building. Artistic expressions continue to 
emerge and have now become transversal, making 
distinct delineation challenging. Applicants were required 
to apply in any of the following programmes:

3.2.1  Social Cohesion and Nation-Building

The arts play a significant role in contributing to 
nation-building and social cohesion in South Africa. 
It is important that funding is underpinned by equity, 
inclusivity, diversity and the participation of various 
groups of people (women, youth, vulnerable people 
and in particular people living with disabilities). The 
geographical footprint of the allocation pays special 
attention to rural areas and provinces. Twenty-eight 
(28) beneficiaries were supported to undertake projects 
promoting Social Cohesion and Nation Building.

3.2.2 Innovation, Design and Creation

This programme focuses on driving content creation 
at both an individual and organisational level. Content 

creation lies at the heart of the creative industries. It 
aims to promote excellence and innovation in new works. 
New innovative designs and works that have intrinsic and 
economic value brings dynamism and vibrancy to the 
arts. Research and development are essential elements in 
the creation of new works. Forty-two (42) beneficiaries 
benefited from this programme.

3.2.3 Arts Platforms/Showcases/Exhibitions/Festivals

Platforms enable the arts to be showcased and 
appreciated. It is important to develop and support 
the platforms required to showcase the arts. Arts 
content creation and distribution is vital for the 
development of audiences, audience engagement 
and for the consumption of the arts. Platforms 
allow artists to showcase creativity, innovation and 
excellence, and enhances market access. Applicants 
who wish to showcase art works that have already 
been created or have passed the creative phase may 
apply to this programme.  Applicants who organise 
music performances, dance performances, poetry 
performances, drama festivals, craft fairs and exhibitions 
benefited from this programme. These projects meet the 
NAC’s objective to create market access and enrichment 
through arts and culture. Sixty-three (63) beneficiaries 
were supported in this programme.

3.2.4 Strategic Initiatives

Strategic Initiatives help to raise the profile of the NAC 
while significantly developing and promoting the arts 
in South Africa. Strategic Initiatives include innovation; 
capacity building; the leveraging of finances and 
partnerships; and focuses on execution to deliver value in 
line with the NAC’s overall mandate. The programme also 
works with partners to leverage available funding, build 
sustained capacity and achieve real impact for the arts 
community. This requires the NAC to proactively identify 
potential opportunities to make a real, sustained impact 
in the communities it serves. Strategic Initiatives takes 
into account several considerations, the main one being 
the identification of programmes and projects most likely 
to make a lasting impact with the NAC as a catalyst for 
social inclusion. Working with marginalised communities 
inclusive of people living with disabilities, plays an integral 
part in achieving this goal. Thirty-six (36) beneficiaries 
were supported to undertake projects that are strategic 
in nature.
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3.2.5 Capacity Building

Capacity building is an essential element for developing 
the arts to ensure excellence. Through support for the 
provision of training and education, the programme 
offers grants to help grow the talent of arts practitioners 
and other industry-related professionals, such as 
community art centre managers, art programme 
managers, art technicians and arts administrators. This 
will ensure that South Africa has a sustainable pool of 
talented artists and leaders. Forty (40) beneficiaries 
were supported to undertake capacity building projects. 
Seventy-one (71) postgraduate students were supported 
and thirteen (13) institutions were supported

ARTS ADMINISTRATION 

2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000

76,691 77,915 (1,224) 80,967 80,756 211

TABLE 5:  SUMMARY OF PAYMENTS FOR PROGRAMMES                

Digital Marketing Collaboration
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Project Funding Cycle 2019 opened on the 28th February 
2019 and closed on the 23rd April 2019. This funding cycle 
included applications for individual and international 
bursaries, as well as project funding for organisations and 
individuals. 

This was the first cycle that categorised applications 
by focus area in line with the NAC strategic initiatives.  
Applicants chose one of the following focus areas: 
• Arts Platforms/Showcases/Exhibitions/Festivals
• Capacity Building
• Innovation, Design and Creation 
• Social Cohesion and Nation Building
• Strategic Initiatives 

All bursaries were categorised as “Capacity Building 
Projects”. Applicants still chose which art genre their 
application fell into. 

4.1  Demographics and Categories of Funding  
      (NAC Beneficiaries)

The NAC supported 277 beneficiaries across the various 
funding programmes.  The NAC strategy focused on 
addressing some of the legacies of apartheid through 
a positive focus on content creation and distribution 
that favours disadvantaged and marginalised sectors 
of South African society. The funding is geared towards 
the support of indigenous art forms, the youth, 
disabled people, women and marginalized communities, 
particularly those in rural areas. To this end, 49 projects 
promoting indigenous art forms were supported, 61 
projects led by women, 93 projects benefitting the youth, 
10 projects aimed at persons living with disabilities and 64 
project targeting people in rural areas and under-served 
provinces.

NAC GRANT 
BENEFICIARIES 2019/20 

PROGRAMME INDIGENOUS 
ART FORMS

WOMEN-LED 
PROJECTS

PROJECTS 
BENEFITING 
THE YOUTH

PERSONS 
WITH DIS-
ABILITIES

PROJECTS 
TARGETING 

PEOPLE IN  RURAL 
AREAS/PROVINCES

AOSF 12 15 18 1 22

Capacity Building 1 11 23 0 5

Social Cohesion 3 4 7 3 11

Innovation, Design and Creation 23 7 8 2 2

Strategic Initiatives 5 7 13 4 7

Art Platforms 5 17 24 0 17

Total 49 61 93 10 64
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PROJECT FUNDING 2019/2020 GRAPH BY FOCUS AREA AND PROVINCE 

2019/2020 APPROVED INDIVIDUALS BY FOCUS:  TOTAL 85   

Arts Platforms, 
Showcases, 
Exhibitions, Festivals:

32

Capacity Building:

11
Innovation, Design 
and Creation:

26

Social Cohesion and 
Nation Building:

7

Strategic Initiatives:

9

2019/2020 APPROVED INDIVIDUALS BY PROVINCE OF ORIGIN 

Free State:

17

Gauteng:

16

Limpopo:

12

North West:

6

Western Cape:

6

KwaZulu-Natal:

12

Mpumalanga:

4

Northern Cape:

5
Eastern Cape:

7
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2019/2020 APPROVED ORGANISATIONS BY FOCUS: TOTAL 110

Arts Platforms, Showcases,
Exhibitions, Festivals:

32

Capacity Building:

29
Innovation, Design 
and Creation:

16

Social Cohesion and 
Nation Building:

21

Strategic Initiatives:

12

2019/2020 APPROVED ORGANISATION BY PROVINCE 

Free State:

8

Gauteng:

20

Limpopo:

10

North West:

9

Western Cape:

12

KwaZulu-Natal:

23

Mpumalanga:

14

Northern Cape:

5
Eastern Cape:

9
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THREE YEAR COMPANY FUNDING BY PROVINCE AND APPROVED AMOUNT 

2019/2020 APPROVED ORGANISATION BY PROVINCE 

Free State:

8

Gauteng:

11

Limpopo:

8

North West:

8

Western Cape:

5

KwaZulu-Natal:

8

Mpumalanga:

8

Northern Cape:

8
Eastern Cape:

8Blank: 1

               Bogomil Mihaylov
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Medumo Ya Africa 
by Bele’s Productions 

Bele’s Productions is a project based in the Gauteng 
Province which the NAC funded with an amount of 
R250 000. The grant provided Bele’s Productions with 
the funding they needed to conduct workshops in 
Gauteng, the Free State, and the North West. The funding 
further enabled the project to cover transport and 
accommodation costs, as well as a stipend for workshop 
facilitators. A total of 19 people were employed by the 
project. 

Bele’s Productions delivered social value by reintroducing 
the importance of cultural instruments in society through 
workshops focusing on indigenous instruments. The 
project also provided economic value as the community 
was happy to be part of the project that uplifted them 
both financially and culturally. The project not only had 
a positive impact on the communities it visited, but 
empowered the youth too. 
 
During the workshops, learners were able to assemble 
instruments, compose and arrange, perform, and share 
indigenous knowledge with other learners and teachers, 
which enhanced the creative value of the project. The 
project also created an African Orchestra with learners, 
inspiring them to sing and create music from scratch. 
The multi-faceted impact of the project was further 
showcased in the therapeutic value it delivered by 
visiting centres caring for the physically challenged. The 
learners had fun playing their indigenous instruments and 
the sound made them feel appreciated and valued as part 
of a broader community.

The instruments used in the workshops are on the CAPS 
curriculum, which the project aligned to, ensuring that 

communities receive educational value. Learners were 
able to get a better understanding by physically handling 
the instruments and hearing the sounds they make, 
instead of reading about them in a textbook. Children 
learned how to compose, arrange their own music and 
to work as a team while music therapy taught learners 
confidence to make their own instruments. Teachers 
from some of the schools advised that they would 
be allocating marks to learners who took part in the 
workshops. Certificates were awarded to schools that 
participated in the project.

The project was successful in reaching its objectives by 
sharing indigenous knowledge with learners in a short 
time, creating an African Orchestra with the learners, and 
achieving social cohesion for sector practitioners in each 
province. They also managed to expand Bele’s Production 
and Service footprint to other provinces and conducted 
workshops in public schools, special schools, secure 
centres, and skills’ schools.

The project cultivated training and skills development in 
indigenous instrumentation at the grass-root level; and 
promoted Ubuntu, leadership, and discipline.

1. PROGRAMME: STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

BENEFICIARIES SUCCESS STORIES
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Raencho Arts Education 
Ensemble NPC 
Reancho Arts Education Ensemble NPC in the North 
West, coordinated by Susan Skhosana, requested funds 
from the NAC for the Tributes Show to Levy Kgasi 
project – a celebration of the lifetime achievements 
of an internationally recognised, unsung South African 
Jazz legend from the province. The NAC allocated R320 
850 of funding to the project. Levy Kgasi contributed 
to the liberation struggle of the North West people and 
continued teaching music and mentoring the rising stars 
in Jazz, like trumpet players Neo Mogotsi and Thabang 
Ramagofi, until his untimely death in August 2016. 

The main objective of the project was to bring to life 
the forgotten history of the Jazz music of the Batswana 
people of the present day Kgabalatsane Village in the 
North West. The purpose was to celebrate and revive 
their rich history through presentations of their cultural 
life and recovering their praise poetry, cultural dance, 
music, and visual art works; and to showcase its modern 
day relevancy through live stream. 

A newly-founded band, Matshuba, was identified to 
perform the written work of Levy Kgasi. The organisation 
has a show project running, Tributes Show to Levy Kgasi 
- a live music show celebrating Kgabalatsane Village’s 
early music stories. The theme of the show centred 
around a book of Tributes to Levy Kgasi 1959-2016, an 
unsung Kgabalatsane Jazz maestro that emulated his 
father and grandfather as a music teacher, particularly in 
the trumpet. His father and grandfather were the early 
South African Jazz pioneers, working as music teachers, 
producers, composers, writers, directors, arrangers and 
performers. 

The project delivered cultural and social value through 
the cultural music infusion and cultural praise poetry 
showcase by impacting artists, beneficiaries and the 
North West community, who were enabled to retain and 
celebrate their own African heritage.

By telling the Jazz History of Kgabalatsane Village 
through music performance, the project had a 
significant educational, therapeutic and  environmental 
impact. In addition, members of the community were 
either in the Matshuba band or in the audience (direct 
or indirect), meaning that local musicians were the 
immediate beneficiaries of this project. 

Raencho Arts Education Ensemble NPC contracted 
Artmostfair Multimedia to develop the company’s 
branding. The organisation is confident that by fully 
establishing its brand, it will be able to sustain itself 
financially in the future. 

By forming the Matshuba band, the project created 
lifetime job opportunities for its members. They will 
continue to benefit from a stable band membership and 
through the brand that Artmostfair Multimedia is building. 
The organisation has guaranteed continuous exposure 
and gig opportunities for the band through a recorded 
live DVD and a live stream of the show on the website. 

2. PROGRAMME: INNOVATION DESIGN AND CREATION
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3. PROGRAMME: ARTS PLATFORMS 

Moshe 
Produced and Directed by Bonolo Nteo

The NAC allocated R100 000 for the production of a 
play, Moshe, produced and directed by Bonolo Nteo from 
the Northern Cape. The play was written by Goitsemang 
Fidtgerard, who gave Nteo permission to use the script. 
Moshe is a fictional play that is laced with mystery, 
prophecies and corruption. The play is brought to life by 
three protagonists and starts to unfold when Boitumelo 
Setlhabi hears on the radio that the Mayor of Kimberley, 
Snowy Mhlanga is coming to the small town of Riverton 
to inspect the pollution and the quality of the water of 
the Vaal River. Boitumelo, who couldn’t support her baby 
boy called Moshe, puts him among the reeds of the river 
hoping that the mayor will pity the boy and adopt him.  
However, the mayor does not come down the river that 
day and the child is swept away by the water, never to be 
seen again.

The main reason for the mayor of Kimberley’s visit to 
the river is for nefarious reasons. She brought foreign 
investors with her with the intention of diverting the 
river to Kimberley to supply water to a new diamond 
plant. The plan is uncovered by a private investigator, Ivan 
Gamabundu, who is initially hired by the mayor to find out 
why Boitumelo put her baby in harm’s way. 

Ivan, a recovering alcoholic, finds himself stuck between a 
rock and a hard place as he grapples with what he should 
do. On the one hand, the mayor is involved in the Vaal 
River water scandal and should be exposed, but on the 
other hand, she was the one who hired him. Does he bite 
the hand that feeds him? 

Boitumelo’s grandmother also complicates Ivan’s 
investigation when she tells him that Boitumelo believes 
that the Vaal and Nile Rivers are connected. That is why 
she put her baby among the reeds of the river, believing 
that the mayor, who is the king’s daughter, would adopt 
her baby.

The project focused on theatre and how it addresses 
social ills in our community and how it can heal our 
society. The grant made a big difference in the lives of 
artists in the Northern Cape by bringing economic value 
to local SMMEs, artists and the community through the 
production and the subsequent boost in tourism in the 
province. The production provided creative value by 
allowing artists to showcase their creative abilities and 
share their skills with the community. 

By highlighting social ills in our society and showcasing 
how art can both educate and entertain, the production 
provided social value to community audiences. The 
elderly, youth and people living with disabilities also 
benefited from the therapeutic value of the production 
as they could relate to the story and its portrayal of 
communities where they come from. 

The production delivered educational value by enabling 
actors to share their skills and training through their 
performances. The production employed eight artists 
sourced from the province and from local SMMEs. 
. 
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Light of Nation Youth 
Projects
Light of Nation Youth Projects were funded an amount 
of R200,000 for their training program in drama, craft 
and visual arts focused on people living with disabilities 
in Gauteng. The grant enabled them to train people 
living with disabilities and to reach out to schools for the 
disabled. The project employed 15 people in total. 

The main objective of the Handicapped Arts Alive 
Project is to represent creative artists who are living with 
disabilities. The project equips them with effective arts 
development skills that help them to identify their unique 
talents in the arts sector and to realise their goals. 

The Handicapped Arts Alive Project highlights the 
significance of collaboration and partnership between 
community arts organisations; arts focused groups; small, 
local entertainment companies; and arts practitioners. 
The project team ensured that all the organisations, 
groups and individuals involved in arts development in the 
area were informed about the project and encouraged 

to play a role in developing the potential of people with 
disabilities. 

The project had a huge impact on people living with 
disabilities, delivering therapeutic and educational value. 
They were made to feel proud about their participation in 
the project and it helped them to gain confidence in their 
talent and potential. People with disabilities were also 
empowered with different marketable arts skills in poetry, 
dance and drama. 

4. PROGRAMME: CAPACITY BUILDING 

Eastern Cape Ladies of Song
Eastern Cape Ladies of Song, an organisation based in 
Westering in Port Elizabeth, received R201,000 of funding 
for their project focused on empowering young, female 
artists. 

The aim of the project was to equip young female 
musicians and musicians living with disabilities with 
administrative, business and entrepreneurial skills to 
empower them to independently seek opportunities; 
apply administrative and management skills of the highest 

5. PROGRAMME: SOCIAL COHESION AND NATION BUILDING ON TIME PROJECTS
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international standards; and, ultimately, bring them into 
the economic mainstream. 

The project upskilled young female artists to also 
explore opportunities in other niche markets, such 
as merchandising, publishing, synchronisation, events 
and technical support. The artists are equipped with 
information regarding the legal side of the arts and the 
business of arts, which will help them make informed 
business decisions and to be vigilant when it comes to 
contracts they enter into in the future. 

The artists were mentored by local music legends such 
as Bongani Tulwana, a multi-instrumentalists, vocalist, 
music director and educator, producer and composer; 
and  Lawrence Matshiza,  a producer, arranger, guitarist 
and composer. During the session artists were mentored 
on how to handle the industry on and off the stage. 
The artists were also guided on how they should handle 
relationships with other musicians and their fans; and 
how to deal with pressures and challenges inherent in 
showbusiness, such as drug and alcohol abuse. 

The project had both a cultural and social impact as 
the young artists were connected with mentors and the 
performance side of the project brought together a 
diverse group of people from a variety of cultures and 
backgrounds. The mentorship programme continued until 
March 2020. 

The arts, and in particular music, has a profound 
therapeutic impact on listeners and audiences. Research 
has shown that music with a strong beat can stimulate 
brainwaves to resonate in sync with the beat, with 
faster beats bringing sharper concentration and more 
alert thinking while a slower tempo promotes a calm, 
meditative state. Through the project, audiences were 
able to benefit from the therapeutic value of music. 

A major focus area of the project was skills development 
and mentorship, which had a massive educational 
impact. The project, aimed at young female artists, was 
well received and additional hype created on social media 
led to the extension of the project to accommodate 
other interested artists.   

From an economic impact perspective, the project 
earned R8 000.00 from ticket sales at the door. Local 
service providers also benefited, generating income by 
providing services to the project. The project created 
41 job opportunities, employing two people living with 
disabilities, seven adult females and three males, 18 young 
women and two men, six service providers, and a five-
member management team. 

The entire project was held indoors and observed 
stringent measures to ensure minimal environmental 
impact. All waste was removed and recycled as per the 
rules of the venue, the Anthenaeum building in Port 
Elizabeth, that is committed to environmentally-friendly 
practices and procedures. 

The arts business information sharing session
As part of the project, an Arts Business Information 
Sharing session was held in partnership with the 
Department of Sport, Recreation, Arts and Culture 
(DSRAC) and the Nelson Mandela Bay (NMB) district. 
The venue and refreshments were provided by the 
department. The session was advertised to women 
and people living with disabilities on social media, but 
following a plea, local male artists were also invited 
to attend the session. The session was attended by 6 
male and 12 female artists,  one of whom is living with a 
disability. The session focused on funding opportunities, 
accessing funding and the types of funding programmes 
that are available to different entities. The session was 
free and it was received with positive reviews from 
participants. 
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The Botsotso Ensemble 
Botsotso, situated in Gauteng, was funded an amount of 
R250 000 per annum for three years, from 2017 to 2019. 
The NAC grant assisted in launching and sustaining a five-
member theatre group, the Botsotso Ensemble. It also 
enabled Botsotso to publish three new anthologies of 
contemporary poetry, short fiction and drama.  

The Botsotso Ensemble comprised the following young 
actors (all below the age of 30): Thandeka Shangase, 
Nkanyiso Shezi, Busisiwe Radebe, Yandisa Khwakwha, 
Simphiwe Dlaldla,  Mandilakhe Vilo, Thembeka Mgandlela, 
Sibusiso Ncgobo, Malusi  Mkhonza , Trueman Myeza,  
Mzamo Mkhombe and Katlego Letsholonyana; with a 
standing director/script-writer, Allan Kolski Horwitz. The 
young actors participated in the group at different times 
over the course of the three year grant. 

The program was undertaken in partnership with the 
Gauteng Department of Education (GDE) as part of a 
five-year collaboration agreement with the department. 
The GDE acknowledged that Botsotso performed a 
vital task in assisting the department who doesn’t have 
sufficient funds or enough trained teachers to properly 
carry out Creative Arts education. By sponsoring free and 
targeted performances, the NAC and Botsotso were able 
to assist the GDE in fulfilling this statutory and socially 
important function.  

Botsotso worked closely with GDE to motivate teachers 
and held meetings with district supervisors to discuss 
Creative Arts and Life Orientation in schools. Over a three 
year period (2017 – 2019) the ensemble visited primary 
and high schools, performing prescribed works (plays, 
novels and poetry) as well as original productions created 
by the group on topics covered in the curriculum for Life 
Orientation. 

These topics included the encouragement of a reading 
culture, comprehensive sex education covering all the 
psychological and physical changes brought on by 

adolescence, a decolonised history of South Africa and 
an examination of the work of the Auditor-General in 
combating corruption and mismanagement in the state 
apparatus as well as in the private sector. 

Botsotso performances were free of charge and targeted 
some of the poorest and disadvantaged schools in 
Soweto, Alexandra, Diepsloot, Orange Farm and the 
Johannesburg inner city, as well as some model C schools 
that now have 90% black learners. Each performance was 
followed by a discussion on the play’s significance and 
input on the techniques and value of the performing arts. 
In addition, role playing exercises were conducted with 
the learners based on the performances they had just 
seen. 

The ensemble performed on school premises and in or 
just after school hours, to ensure minimal disruption 
to schooling. It also enabled all parties to keep costs to 
a minimum and enabled learners at even the poorest 
schools to experience the magic and power of live 
theatre.       

By exposing young children and teenagers to the arts, 
with all the richness, beauty and learning that we, as 
human beings, draw from them, projects like Botsotso 
ensure that public education is not only about skills but 
about the awakening of moral responsibility as well as 
personal and national creativity. However, while arts 

6. ARTS SUPPORT ORGANISATION FUNDING 
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education is as important as science and technology, 
it continues to be neglected. Projects like Botsotso are 
critical to elevate arts education and unlock the value it 
brings to children. 

Overall, the project facilitated positive and impactful 
outcomes, delivering economic, creative, social, 
therapeutic and educational value to schools and 
learners. Botsoso held 10 festivals involving an average of 
four schools from 2016 to 2017, visited 73 schools from 
2017 to 2019 and reached 16,905 learners over the course 
of the project. At any given time five actors, a director, 
costume designer, graphic designer, caterer, costume 
cleaner and one administrator/driver was employed on a 
contract basis. In total, 12 actors were employed over the 
three year period.  

Botsotso’s has also received praise for its original works. 
The play, Taking Everything into Account, which is about 
the critical work of the Auditor-General in fighting 
corruption and mismanagement in local government, 
received widespread critical acclaim. In a 2016 review 
on ANC Online, former Deputy-Minister of Local 
Government, Andries Nel said: “Taking Everything into 
Account is excellent engaged – and engaging – theatre. 
Many in the audience came out of solidarity (not 
expecting much) and left overwhelmed, entertained, 
angered, educated, and inspired to mobilise and 
organise”.

Hatim Belyamani
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4.2  Programme: Marketing and Communications 

The Communication and Marketing Unit provides the link 
between the NAC, stakeholders and the broader sector. 

Strategic Objectives of the Programme 
The 2019/20 objectives of the programme were to 
advocate for the arts and the work of the NAC by 
developing a clear positioning of the NAC brand, ensuring 
stakeholder understanding of the NAC’s role and 
positioning in the arts ecosystem. The programme aims 
to utilise traditional, electronic and social media. 

Key Performance Measures, Targets and Results 
The Marketing and Communications unit strives to adapt 
swiftly to changes in the industry and stay abreast of 
current developments. In the year under review, the unit 
has managed to create more digital material in order to 
reach and support more stakeholders. 

In order to better fulfil its role, the unit conducted a 
perception survey among stakeholders. More responses 
were received compared to the previous year and the 
feedback obtained will enable the unit to improve its 
communication with stakeholders.  

The unit welcomed a new manager later in the year 
(September 2019), and programmes were introduced to 
enhance both internal and external communications. A 
few campaigns were also introduced to help boost staff 
morale. External campaigns were launched and initiatives, 
such as participating in exhibitions in the sector, were 
supported to showcase the entity’s offering. 

Steps were also taken to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 
and potential negative consequences for the NAC when 
the project funding cycle was delayed. Apart from 
projects having to be Covid-19 compliant, start and end 
dates of projects had to be adjusted to accommodate the 
changing lockdown regulations.  

The unit undertook an exciting initiative to upgrade 
the NAC website in a bid to improve accessibility and 
the overall user experience. In keeping with the digital 
transformation within the NAC, the website was upgraded 
to advance virtual campaigns and to automate the 
dissemination of information. The initiative also made 
extensive use of social media by posting informative 
and educational videos that explain the NAC’s offering 
and programmes, as well as instructional graphics to aid 
applicants in the application process. 

STRATEGIC GOAL 5: INCREASED ACCESS TO THE ARTS THROUGH ADVOCACY 

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
from 2018/19 
to 2019/20
(if 
applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

14. Position 
and 
strengthen
the NAC brand
and increase
stakeholder
awareness and 
engagement

Update and
implement 
brand
communica-
tion
strategy

Brand com-
munication 
strategy 
updated and 
implemented

Review, update 
and implement 
brand
communica-
tion
strategy

Brand commu-
nications  
strategy 
reviewed and 
updated

Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable

TABLE 6: MARKETING AND COMMUNICATION                
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4.3 Programme 2: Human Resources, IT and Financial 
      Administration 

The NAC’s Human Resources, Information Technology 
and Financial resources are administered by a programme 
that is responsible for: 

• Financial management; 
• Human resources management and development; 
• Information technology management and 

development; and 
• Administration management, particularly in support 

of grant administration.

Strategic Objectives, Performance Indicators, 
Planned Targets and Actual Achievements

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the programme in 2019/20 were to 
promote effective corporate governance by:  

• Achieving an unqualified audit report; 
• Ensuring compliance with relevant legislation; 
• Complying with the King IVTM Report where 

applicable; and  
• Monitoring and reporting on strategic objectives.

The objectives of this programme also included 
developing systems to improve efficiency and 
effectiveness in service delivery by:  

• Developing a skilled workforce and efficiently 
administer human resources; 

• Managing risks effectively; and 
• Implementing cost saving initiatives. 

TABLE 7: SUMMARY OF PAYMENTS FOR PROGRAMMES 

COMMUNICATIONS 

2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000

1,838 1,462 376 1,893 1,463 430

           Iiona Virgin
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TABLE 8: HUMAN RESOURCES, IT AND FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION               

STRATEGIC GOAL 6: DEVELOPMENT OF A CREDIBLE AND CATALYTIC ORGANISATION

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Planned 
Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from Planned 
Target for 
2019/2020

Variance 
from 2018/19 
to 2019/20
(if 
applicable) 

Comment on 
Variances

15. Improve-
ment of 
business 
processes 

Improvement 
of business 
processes 

Implementa-
tion of new 
business 
processes 

Implementa-
tion of new 
business 
processes 

New business 
processes 
implemented

None None Not Applicable

16. Implement 
HR strategy

Implemented 
enhanced HR 
strategy

HR strategy Review HR 
strategy 
and develop 
annual HR 
plan

HR Strategy 
reviewed 
and HR plan 
developed 

81% of 
reviewed 
HR strategy 
and HR plan 
implemented 

19% less of 
reviewed 
HR strategy 
and HR plan 
implemented

15% less of 
reviewed 
HR strategy 
and HR plan 
implemented 

A portion of the 
Culture Change 
Programme 
was started 
in 2018/19 and 
continued 
in 2019/20. A 
comprehensive 
Organsational 
Design (Road 
Map) has been 
designed in 
ensuring that 
the HR activities 
are properly 
aligned to the 
new enhanced 
strategy 

17. Implement 
ICT 
governance 
framework 

Implement 
ICT 
governance 
framework

Review ICT 
strategy and 
annual ICT 
plan

Review ICT 
strategy and 
annual ICT 
plan

ICT strategy 
and ICT plan 
reviewed 

93% of 
reviewed 
ITC strategy 
and ICT plan 
implemented 

7% less of ICT 
strategy plan 
implemented

7% less of ICT 
strategy plan 
implemented

The NAC 
committed 
resources 
towards the 
improvement 
of the NAC 
intranet. This 
budget was 
subsequently 
recommitted 
towards 
enhancing 
mission critical 
functions in the 
NAC’s grants 
management 
system (GMS). 
The IT Unit is 
committing 
resources 
towards making 
the necessary 
improvements 
to the intranet 
in the 2020/2021 
financial year

18.Implement 
effective 
financial 
management 

Implement 
effective 
financial 
management 

Unqualified 
audit outcome

Unqualified 
audit outcome

Unqualified 
audit outcome

None None Not Applicable

19.Evaluation 
of council and 
council sub-
committees

Evaluation 
report of 
council and 
council sub-
committees

Performance 
evaluation 
of council 
and sub- 
committees

Performance 
evaluation 
of council 
and sub- 
committees

Performance 
evaluation 
of council 
and sub-
committees 
done

None None Not Applicable
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During the financial year 2019/20 the IT unit was focused on 
ensuring that the planned annual IT projects are within the 
key deadlines. Another major focus was ensuring that a new 
service provider was appointed for the ICT Infrastructure 
upgrades as the hardware is out of date and poses a risk to 
the organisation in the case of any hardware failure.

The upgrade of the ICT infrastructure included replacing the 
network switches, WiFi access points and a new firewall – all 
significantly important components. 

The fiber line was also upgraded from a 10mps line to 50mps.  
The reliance on internet-based services has increased due 
to cloud-based services such as Mimecast that is used for 
email archiving and security.

The Grants Management System (GMS) is the core 
business application which is used to administer grants and 
enhancements have been done in accordance with business 
requirements and to cater to applicants’ needs.

TABLE 10: SUMMARY OF PAYMENTS FOR PROGRAMMES              

FINANCE IT & HR

2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000

32,986 37,205 (4,219) 36,499 35,676 823

Garage Dance Ensemble
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REVENUE 
COLLECTION

The NAC received revenue as per the approved ENE 
and schedule of withdrawal and did not have any 
under collection of revenue.  The conditional grant 
for infrastructure  was recognised as grant income. 
Additional Funds were also received for compliance costs. 
All revenue targets are monitored monthly, quarterly 
and annually through financial reporting. The revenue 
received by the NAC does not cover the demands 

received by the sector, however, the NAC uses a targeted 
approach to funding in an attempt to meet its mandate. 
The target on the revenue is exceeded due to the fact 
that the NAC does not budget for interest income 
and other income. The NAC is embarking on resource 
mobilisation and forming partnership to achieve its full 
mandate. 

2018/2019 2019/2020

Sources of Revenue Estimate Actual 
Amount 
Collected

Over/
(Under) 
Collection

Estimate Actual 
Amount 
Collected

Over/
(Under) 
Collection

Grant 88 094 88 694 600 94,083 95,599 1,516

Ring-fenced (orchestra) 21,583 21,583 - 21,583 21,583 -
Other Income - 16 16 - 207 207

Interest - 1,843 1,843 1,800 2,806 1,006

Total 109,677 112,136 2,459 117,466 120,195 2,729

Bazil Julius
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CAPITAL INVESTMENT

2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000

1,800 600 1,200 1,200 1,421 (221)

CAPITAL
INVESTMENT

The NAC does not have substantive infrastructure projects and capital expenditure that is managed within the finance 
section. 

The capital investment for large infrastructure projects are funds received from the DAC to upgrade the building. The 
lift was installed and refurbishments were done on the building. The NAC received interest on the funds allocated for 
infrastructure projects from the DAC.

                TheCreativeExchange



PART C 
Governance

Junior Pereira
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The NAC is a Schedule 3A public entity 
established in terms of the National 
Arts Council Act (Act No. 56 of 1997). 
The corporate governance principles of 
the National Arts 
Council (NAC) are 
governed by the 
Act, as amended by 
the Cultural Laws 
Amendment Act (Act 
No. 36 of 2001) and 
the Public Finance 
Management Act 
(Act No. 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA). In addition, 
the NAC has a 
corporate governance 
framework in place, 
which is aligned with 
the King IVTM Report 
on Corporate Governance in South Africa.

The NAC’s corporate governance framework was 
approved by Council in 2015 with a clear definition of the 
roles and responsibilities of the constituent elements of 
the organisation’s management structure. This enables 
Council to plan, execute, control and monitor the NAC’s 
activities in accordance with its strategic objectives. The 
delegation of authority framework determines levels 
of authority for Council and management in terms of 
financial and operational decision-making. This includes 

major investments, capital expenditure and contractual 
engagements.

The internal audit function monitors compliance with 
these authority levels and checks for compliance with the 
corporate governance framework. In terms of Section 4 

of the Act, the NAC functions 
under the authority of a 
Council appointed by the 
Minister of Sport, Arts and 
Culture. For the period under 
review, the NAC had a 19 
member Council which was 
appointed in January 2017. 
However, there were two 
resignations from Mr Zolani 
Mkiva and Mr Bongani Mavuso 
during the year under review. 
Ms Madre Loubser joined 
the Council during the same 
period. Council meetings 
were held quarterly and, when 
necessary, special meetings 
were convened. The NAC 
maintained a functional Audit 

and Risk Committee and an internal audit function for 
the year under review, in compliance with the PFMA. The 
advisory panels, established in terms of Section 11 of the 
Act and chaired by the duly appointed Council member, 
facilitated the allocation of Arts Organisation Support, and 
project and bursary funding in the year under review by 
evaluating applications and making recommendations to 
Council.

Parliament, the Executive and the Accounting Authority 
of the public entity are responsible for corporate 
governance.

INTRODUCTION

“The NAC’s corporate 
governance framework 

was approved by Council 
in 2015 with a clear 

definition of the roles 
and responsibilities of 

the constituent elements 
of the organisation’s 

management structure.”
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PORTFOLIO 
COMMITTEES 

The Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Arts and Culture is responsible for oversight on the work of the NAC, along 
with the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) and all other public entities reporting to the DAC. The NAC appeared 
before the Portfolio Committee on the following occasion/s:

Dates Purpose

19 November 2019 Briefing by the National Arts Council on the 
investigations at the entity and outcomes.

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

The NAC reports quarterly to the Minister of Sport, 
Arts and Culture using a template as prescribed by the 
DAC. Furthermore, through the annual Shareholder’s 
Compact signed by the NAC and the Minister of Sport, 
Arts and Culture, a series of structures were established 
to promote effective relations between the DAC and the 
public entities that report to it. A Chief Financial Officer’s 
Forum, CEO’s Forum and Chairpersons’ Forum were 
established. The NAC attended the following meetings in 
the year under review:

Dates Forum

11 September 2019
11 June 2020

CEO’s Forum

11 December 2019 Chairperson’s Forum
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For the period under review, the NAC had a Council 
appointed by the Minister of Sport, Arts and Culture. 
According to the NAC Act, the Council has a direct 
responsibility in regard to decisions pertaining to grant 
funding, and as such, the NAC Council is expected to 
meet at least four times a year to approve funding and to 
perform oversight functions for the entity. 

THE ROLE OF THE COUNCIL IS AS FOLLOWS:

• It holds absolute responsibility for the performance 
of the public entity;

• It retains full and effective control over the public 
entity;

• It has to ensure that the public entity complies with 
applicable laws, regulations and government policy;

• It has unrestricted access to information of the 
public entity;

• It formulates, monitors, reviews corporate strategy, 
major plans of action, risk policy, annual budgets and 
business plans; 

• It ensures that the shareholders’ performance 
objectives are achieved;

• It manages potential conflicts of interest; 
• It develops a clear definition of levels of materiality;
• The Council must attend annual meetings; 
• It ensures financial statements are prepared; 
• The Council must appraise the performance of the 

Chairperson; 
• It must ensure an effective Council induction; and
• It must maintain integrity, responsibility and 

accountability.   

COUNCIL CHARTER

As recommended by the King Code, the Council has a 
Charter setting out its responsibilities, which should be 
disclosed in its annual report. At a minimum, the Charter 
should confirm: 

• The Council’s responsibility for the adoption of 
strategic plans;

• Monitoring of operational performance and 
management;

• Determination of policy processes to ensure the 
integrity of the public entity risk management and 
internal controls; and 

• Communication policy, as well as director selection, 
orientation and evaluation. 

During the period under review the Council complied with 
the Council Charter. 

COMPOSITION OF COUNCIL 
 
During the year under review, Mr Zolani Mkiva and 
Mr Bongani Mavuso and Mr Pheni Ngove resigned 
from Council. Ms Madré Loubser joined the Council 
as a Provincial representative for the Western Cape.  
According to section 8(1) of the NAC Act, Council meets 
no less than three times a year. However, the Chairperson 
may at any time convene a special meeting with Council. 

THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY (COUNCIL) 
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NAC COUNCIL MEMBERS AND DESIGNATIONS  

Name Designation App date Resignation 
date

Qualifications Area of 
expertise

Board of 
Directorship

Other 
committees

Number of 
meetings

Hartley 
Ngoato

Council 
Chairperson

1 January 
2017

N/A B. Proc Degree  
(LLB) 

Diploma  (Human 
Resource 
Development)

Legal and 
Human 
Resources

Member: 
Security 
Committee (Risk 
Management);

Chair: Law 
Council: School 
for Legal 
Practice;

Chair:  
Employment 
Equity 
Committee;

Chair:  
Occupational 
Health and 
Safety (Section 
16) Appointee

N/A Council 13
EXCO 4
HRC 3

Jabu 
Dlamini

Council 
Deputy 
Chairperson 

Mpumalanga 
Provincial 
Representative
 
Craft Panel 
Chairperson

1 Sept 15 N/A BA Degree 
(Humanities)

Diploma   
(Education)

Certificate  
(Project 
Management)

Social 
Development

N/A N/A Council 12

EXCO 4

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
2

Panel 
Chairs 1

HRC 
Workshop 1

Avril Joffe ARC 
Chairperson

1 January 
2017

N/A Diploma  (Higher 
Education)

BA Degree 
(Economics) 

BA Hons Degree 
(Industrial 
Sociology) 

M.Phil Degree 
(Development 
Studies) 

Cultural 
Policy 

Cultural 
Economy 
Research and 
Training 

Monitoring 
and 
Evaluation

N/A N/A Council 6

EXCO 4

ARC 6

Erica Elk HRC 
Chairperson

1 Sept 15 N/A Diploma  
(Teaching)

BA Degree (Fine 
Arts)

PG Diploma (Fine 
Arts)

Arts and 
Crafts

South African 
Student Travel 
Service

Director - Cape 
Digital
Foundation

N/A Council 9
EXCO 3

HRC 3

HRC 
Workshop 1

EXCO 4

Bongani 
Mavuso

Literature 
Panel 
Chairperson

1 January 
2017

27 June 
2019

BA Degree (Com-
munication, 
Information and 
Technology)

Honours Degree 
(Social Sciences)

Poetry and 
Literature

N/A N/A Council 9

EXCO 2

Panel 
Chairs 5
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Name Designation App date Resignation 
date

Qualifications Area of 
expertise

Board of 
Directorship

Other 
committees

Number of 
meetings

Dr Same 
Mdluli

Chairperson: 
Innovation, 
Design and 
Creation

1 January 
2017

N/A B-Tech Degree 
-Cum Laude 
(Fine Arts) 

Certificate (Arts 
and Culture 
Teacher Training) 

MA Degree (Arts 
and Culture 
Management)

PhD Degree 
(History of Art)

Arts and 
Culture 
(Visual Arts)

N/A N/A Council 7

Mr Edmund 
Mhlongo

Council 
Member

1 January 
2017

N/A MPHL Degree 
(Development 
Studies)

BA Hons 
Degree (Sociol-
ogy, Research 
Methods)

DBA Degree 
(Business Admin-
istration)

Executive 
Diploma (Quanti-
tative Methods) 

Business, 
Project 
Management 
and 
Administra-
tion

N/A N/A Council 6

Mandie van 
der Spuy

Chairperson: 
Capacity 
Building

1 January 
2017

N/A Degree 
(Languages and 
Literature)

PG Degree  
(Theatre 
Studies)

MA Degree 
(Literature)

Arts and 
Culture 
(Arts 
Management)  

Director: 
Business and 
Arts South Africa

Director: 
Artinsure

N/A Council 8

Panel 
Chairs 4

Pheni 
Ngove

Council 
Member

1 January 
2017

26 
September 
2019

N.Dip (Public 
Administration 
and 
Management) 

PGDip  (Urban 
Economic 
Development)

PGCert 
(Law for Non-
lawyers)

PGCert (Local 
Government 
Law)

PGCert (Public 
Finance 
and Fiscal 
Management)

PGCert 
(Advanced 
Administrative 
Law)

Business 
Management
Finance

N/A N/A Council 5

Strategic 
Planning 1
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Name Designation App date Resignation 
date

Qualifications Area of 
expertise

Board of 
Directorship

Other 
committees

Number of 
meetings

Advocate 
Nakedi 
Ribane

Chairperson: 
Social 
Cohesion 
and Nation 
Building

1 January 
2017

N/A LLB Degree

Certificate 
(Marketing and 
Research)

Diploma  
(Speech and 
Drama)

Legal 
Matters 

Arts and 
Culture 
(Theatre) 

Editorial 
Member: 
World Council 
of Science 
and Factual 
Producers

N/A Council 12

EXCO 3

Panel 
Chairs 4

HRC 
Workshop 1 

Jerry 
Mabuza

Gauteng 
Provincial 
Representative

1 January 
2017

N/A Diploma (Further 
Education and 
Training, Arts 
and Culture 
Administration)

Arts 
Administra-
tion

Project  
Management

Sound 
Engineer

Chamber 
Member at 
CATHSSETA - 
Chaimber 
Committee 
member

GOMACC - Chair 
and Operational 
Manager

Community 
developer and 
Sound Engineer

N/A Council 13

EXCO 4

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
2

HRC 
Workshop 1

Zolani 
Mkiva

Eastern Cape 
Provincial 
Representative

1 January 
2017

28 May 
2019

BA Degree 
(Social Science)

Hons Degree  
(Development 
Studies)

Certificate  
(Training 
-Community 
and Conflict 
Resolution)

Arts and 
Culture 
(Literature)

Board Member: 
Black Sea, 
Caspian Sea:  
International 
Fund 

Board Member: 
International 
Delphic Council

Director: 
Institution of 
African Royalty

N/A Council 2

EXCO 1 

Thoko 
Nogabe

Chairperson: 
Arts Platforms/
Showcases/
Exhibitions/
Festivals

1 January 
2017

N/A Choreographer;
Actor; 
Musician 

Music 
Practitioner

N/A N/A Council 8

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
1

Panel 
Chairs 3

Prof. 
Sekgothe
Mokgoatšana

Limpopo 
Provincial 
Representative

1 January 
2017

N/A Distinction in 
History, Music 
and Education, 
Music Theory 
III, and Grade V 
–Distinction

BA Hons Degree 
(Folklore, 
Poetry, Drama, 
Morphology and 
Research)

MA Degree Cum 
Laude

PGDip (Tourism 
Management and 
Development)

Education
Arts:  
Literature 
and Music

N/A N/A Council 13

HRC 2

Panel 
Chairs 3

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
2

HRC 
Workshop 1
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Name Designation App date Resignation 
date

Qualifications Area of 
expertise

Board of 
Directorship

Other 
committees

Number of 
meetings

Maleshini 
Naidoo

Council 
Member

1 Decem-
ber 2017

N/A B.Com Hons 
Degree 
(Accounting) 

B.Com Degree  

N/A N/A N/A Council 6
ARC 5

Michael 
Arendse

Chairperson: 
Strategic 
Initiatives 

1 January 
2017

N/A MA Degree 
(Culture, Policy 
and Management 
– London) 

BA Degree (Arts 
Management - 
Australia) 

N.Dip 
(Journalism - 
South Africa) 

Arts 
Management

N/A NA Council 13

EXCO 1

Panel 
Chairs 4

Jabulani 
Sithole

Council 
Member

Novem-
ber 2018

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Council 10

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
2

Johane 
Chisekula 

Council 
Member

20 Febru-
ary 2019

N/A N.Dip (Dramatic 
Arts)

NQF Level 4 
(Community Arts 
Development)

Arts 
Management

N/A N/A Council 10
HRC 3

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
2

HRC 
Workshop 1

Phumlani 
Manzi

Council 
Member

12 No-
vember 
2018

N/A Electrical Theory 
and Practical 
Professional
Experience,  
Interpreter 
at the Health 
Phelophepha 
Train and Tutor 
at Umuso High 
School

N/A N/A N/A Council 11
HRC 3

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
1

HRC 
Workshop 1

Madré 
Loubser

Council 
Member

30 April 
2019

N/A B.Mus (Bachelor 
of Music)

Performance 
Diploma in Music 
(PDM)

Certificate in 
Music

N/A N/A N/A Council 12

Provincial 
Sub 
Committee 
2
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Remuneration of Council Members

Council members are remunerated in accordance with the rates stipulated by the National Treasury for particular 
categories of public entities. The remuneration is inclusive of preparation fees. Remuneration of Council members is 
detailed as note 21 of the Annual Financial Statements. . 

COUNCIL MEMBER REMUNERATION FOR THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW 

COMMITTEES Committee No. of meetings held No. of members Name of members

EXCO 4 7 Hartley Ngoato (Chairperson)
Jabu Dlamini (Deputy Chairperson)
Erica Elk (HRC Chairperson) 
Avril Joffe (ARC Chairperson)
Jerry Mabuza (Chairperson for Provincial Representatives)
Michael Arendse (Marketing & Communications Acting Chairperson)
Prof. Sekgothe Mokgoatšana (Chairperson of Panels)

HUMAN 
RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

3 5 Erica Elk (Chairperson)
Prof. Sekgothe Mokgoatšana 
Lufuno Motsherane (External Member)
Johane Chisekula 
Phumulani Manzi

AUDIT 
AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

6 5 Avril Joffe (Chairperson)
John Raphela (External Member)
Sikhuthali Nyangintsimbi (External Member)
Maleshini Naidoo (Council Member)
Charlene Louw (External Member)

PANEL 
CHAIRPER-
SONS 

5 7 Prof. Sekgothe Mokgoatšana (Chairperson)
Advocate Nakedi Ribane (Chairperson Social Cohesion and Nation Building) 
Thoko Nogabe (Chairperson Arts Platforms/Showcases/Exhibitions/Festivals)
Dr Same Mdluli (Chairperson innovation, Design and Creation)
Bongani Mavuso (Resigned in June 2019)
Mandie van der Spuy (Chairperson Capacity Building)
Michael Arendse (Chairperson Strategic Initiatives)

Name Remuneration Other 
allowance

Other re-
imbursements

Total

Mr Hartley Ngoato          97 200,00       97 200,00 -     194 400,00 

Ms Jabu Dlamini*                    -                   -   - -

Ms Avril Joffe          28 584,00       43 023,00 -       71 607,00 

Ms Erika Elk          42 876,00       40 494,00 -       83 370,00 

Ms Nakedi Ribane          54 786,00       61 932,00 -     116 718,00 

Mr Michael Arendse          59 550,00       54 786,00 -     114 336,00 

Ms Same Mdluli          33 348,00       19 056,00 -       52 404,00 

Mr Zolani Mkiva            4 764,00         4 764,00 -         9 528,00 

Mr Masengana Mabuza          59 550,00       30 966,00 -       90 516,00 

Ms Thokozile Nogabe          38 112,00       52 404,00 -       90 516,00 

Mr Bongani Mavuso**                    -                   -   -                 -   

Prof. Sekgothe Mokgoatšana          59 550,00       71 460,00 -     131 010,00 

* Ms Jabu Dlamini does not get remunerated as she is employed by the Provincial Government of Mpumalanga.
** Mr Bongani Mavuso: non-payment due to resignation in June 2019
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Name Remuneration Other 
allowance

Other re-
imbursements

Total

Mr Edmund Mhlongo          28 584,00                 -   -       28 584,00 

Ms Mandie van der Spuy          38 112,00       59 550,00 -       97 662,00 

Mr Pheni Ngove*                    -                   -   -                 -   

Ms Maleshini Naidoo          28 584,00         7 857,00 -       36 441,00 

Mr John Raphela (External member)**                    -           2 619,00 -         2 619,00 

Mr Sikuthali Nyangintsimbi (External member)                    -           5 238,00 -         5 238,00 

Ms Charlene Louw (External member)***                    -           5 001,00 -         5 001,00 

Mr Phumlani Manzi          50 022,00       26 202,00 -       76 224,00 

Mr Johane Chisekula          50 022,00       30 966,00 -       80 988,00 

Ms Madré Loubser          54 786,00       14 292,00 -       69 078,00 

Mr Dennis Sithole          42 876,00       19 056,00 -       61 932,00 

Mr Lufuno Motsherane (External member)****                    -         11 910,00 -       11 910,00 

Total       771 306,00    658 776,00 - 1 430 082,00

PANEL MEMBER REMUNERATION FOR THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW 

Name Remuneration Other allowance Other re-
imbursements

Total

Ms Carol Brown             25 354 - -             25 354 

Ms Georgina Thompson             16 902 - -             16 902 

Mr Kingdom Moshounyane             25 354 - -             25 354 

Mr Trevor Mokeyane             25 354 - -             25 354 

Mr Arthur Zitha             38 030 - -             38 030 

Mr Thando Mgqolozana*                   -   - -                   -   

Mr Zothani Vilakazi             38 030 - -             38 030 

Mr Fhumulani Kenneth Mathiva             29 579 - -             29 579 

Mr Theo Lawrence             42 256 - -             42 256 

Mr Njabulo Mkhondo             42 256 - -             42 256 

Mr Papama Mnqadi             42 256 - -             42 256 

Dr Conroy Cupido             16 902 - -             16 902 

Ms Busisiwe Sikhonde             29 579 - -             29 579 

Mr Piet Masilela**                   -   - -                   -   

Ms Celeste Wannenburg             21 130 - -             21 130 

Mr Tsietsi Mohapi             29 579 - -             29 579 

Mr Njabulo Sifiso Mthimkulu             50 707 - -             50 707 

Mr Themba Sweetbirth Luthuli             50 707 - -             50 707 

Ms Smay Kearabilwe Malao             50 707 - -             50 707 

Ms Moleboheng Mokomele             50 707 - -             50 707 

Total           625 389 NA NA           625 389 

* Mr Pheni Ngove:  non-payment due to non-attendance of meetings and resignation.
** Mr. John Raphela was invited for particular Council meetings.
*** Ms Charlene Louw was invited for particular Council meetings.
**** Mr Lufuno Motsherane was invited for particular Council meetings.

*Mr Thando Mgqokozana: Non-payment due to non-attendance of meeting
**Mr Piet Masilela: Non-payment due to no attendance of meetings
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The NAC manages risk according to a strategic risk 
register, which is updated annually and approved by 
Council. Risks relating to the business are managed 
in accordance with the PFMA, as amended, as well as 
recommended good corporate governance practices.  
The NAC’s Risk Management Framework ensures that all 
risks are kept at a manageable level. The strategic risk 
register is based on an annual risk assessment workshop  
conducted by the NAC’s Audit and Risk Committee, which 
includes the internal auditors. The focus is on the risks 
which impact the strategic plan outputs of the NAC. 

The strategic risk register identifies the risk owner and 
includes the mitigation strategies and the progress with 
regards to implementation. The strategic risk register 
is updated quarterly and presented to Council. The 
current year was focused on the strategic risks relating to 
improving governance, meeting stakeholder expectations, 
building the NAC brand image, improving organisational 
culture, talent management, lack of funding, improving 
cybersecurity and the impact of Covid.

RISK 
MANAGEMENT

INTERNAL 
CONTROL UNIT

The NAC has an outsourced Internal Control Unit function 
which is performed by the internal auditors, Nexia-SAB&T. 

The Internal Audit at NAC is outsourced, and provides 
independent, objective assurance to Council that the 
governance processes, management of risk and systems 
of internal controls are adequate and effective in 
mitigating the most significant risks that threaten the 

achievement of NAC objectives. 

Internal audit forms part of the NAC’s Risk Management 
Framework, as a third line of defence. The purpose, 
authority and responsibilities of our Internal Audit 
support are formally set out in a charter approved by 
Council and the Audit and Risk Committee.
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Name Qualifications Internal 
or 
External

If Internal, 
Position in the 
Public Entity

Date 
Appointed

Date 
Resigned

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

Avril Joffe Diploma (Higher Education)

M. Phil Degree (Development Studies)

BA Degree (Economics)

BA Hons Degree (Industrial Sociology)

Internal Chairperson: 
Audit and Risk 
Committee
(NAC Council 
Member)

1 January 
2017

6

INTERNAL AUDIT AND 
AUDIT COMMITTEES 

In accordance with the PFMA, the NAC has a duly
constituted Audit and Risk Committee comprising two
Council members and three external members. In terms 
of the Corporate Governance Framework and Charter 
of theAudit Committee the role of the committee is to 
ensure:

• Effectiveness of the internal control system;
• Effectiveness of the internal audit function; and
• Risk areas of operations to be covered in the scope 

of internal and external audits.

• The adequacy, reliability and accuracy of financial 
information provided by management;

• Any accounting and auditing concerns identified from 
the internal and external audits;

• Compliance with legal and regulatory provisions.
• Monitor and oversee the activities of the internal 

audit function, including its annual work programme, 
coordination with the external auditors (i.e. Auditor-
General), the reports of significant investigations 
and the responses of management to specific 
recommendations.

Effectiveness 
of the internal  
control system

Effectiveness 
of the internal 
audit function 

Risk areas of 
operations to 
be covered

Ensure the 
accuracy 

of financial 
information

Any 
accounting 

and auditing 
concerns 
identified 

Compliance 
with legal and 

regulatory 
provisions

Activities of 
the internal 

audit function

THE ROLE OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE IS TO ENSURE:  
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Name Qualifications Internal 
or 
External

If Internal, 
Position in the 
Public Entity

Date 
Appointed

Date 
Resigned

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

Maleshini 
Naidoo

B.Com Hons Degree (Accounting) 

B.Com Degree 

Internal Audit 
Committee 
Member 
(NAC Council 
Member)

December 
2017

5

John Raphela MBA  (Management)

BSc Hons Degree (Computer Science)

BSc Degree (Computer Science)

External External Audit 
Committee 
Member

1 October 
2015

6

Sikhuthali 
Nyangintsimbi

M.Phil (Internal Audit)

MBL Degree (Master in Business Leadership

B.Com Degree

Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)

Certification in Risk Management Assurance 
(CRMA)

Certified Government Auditing Professional 
(CGAP)

Certification in Control Self-Assessment 
(CCSA)

External External Audit 
Committee 
Member

1 October 
2015

4

Charlene 
Louw

Admitted Attorney 

LLB

MBA

Executive Development Certificate

Municipal Finance Management Certificate

Chartered Secretary 

External External Audit 
Committee 
Member

19 
October 
2018

5

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
AND REGULATIONS

The Council Charter requires of the Board to ensure 
ethical behaviour and compliance with all relevant laws 
and regulations, audit and accounting principles and the 
NAC’s governing documents and codes of conduct. While 
the implementation of compliance management within 
the NAC has been delegated to management, the Council 
monitors and reviews compliance processes with key 

regulatory and legal requirements through regular reports 
to the Audit and Risk Committee and Council. 

The Supply Chain Management policy was reviewed and 
approved by Council. As a PFMA schedule 3A national 
public entity, the NAC complies with all applicable 
legislation as listed in Part A, Section 7 on page 17.
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The NAC has a Fraud Prevention Strategy available to all 
staff. Assessing possible fraud risks is part of the annual 
risk assessment workshop wherein staff members are 
encouraged to disclose and share any information that 
might pose a risk to the NAC. The Fraud Prevention 
Awareness Campaign co-ordinated by the DAC is 
also implemented at the NAC. Information to create 
awareness is displayed on the NAC notice board. 

The campaign makes staff aware of mechanisms to 
report fraud and corruption through surveys, the 
results of which are published for employee awareness. 
Employees are provided with confidential numbers to 
report any possible fraud and corruption including, but 
not limited to, the Presidential hotline.

Fraud prevention activities at the NAC also include pre-
employment screening for all appointments and evidence 
of such screenings is maintained by the HR Department.

FRAUD AND 
CORRUPTION  

Verification of identity Police criminal 
history

Reference checks with 
the two most recent 

employers – this 
will normally require 
telephonic contact

A consideration of any 
gaps in employment 

history and the 
reasons for those gaps

 

Verification of claimed 
formal qualifications

THE FOLLOWING ASPECTS ARE INCLUDED IN THE SCREENING:  



68 ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 | NAC

MINIMISING CONFLICT 
OF INTEREST

We believe that good corporate governance is integral 
to a sustainable business. We have always endeavoured 
to implement practices based on sound governance 
principles. This is also a requirement for approving 
funding applications. The NAC’s corporate governance 
structures are designed to ensure that Council and 
Executive Management can exercise their fiduciary duties 
effectively and efficiently in a fair and transparent manner. 

The NAC stipulates that members of Council and the 
Advisory Panel should not receive grant funding from the 
organisation. In 2014/2015, Council, with the support of 
the DAC, approved an interpretation of this clause which 
would allow the organisations that individual members 
are employed by or associated with to apply for funding, 

but that would explicitly exclude individual Council 
members. In support of this commitment to effective 
governance, Declarations of Interest were completed 
prior to each Council or sub-committee meeting and 
annual declarations were completed by all Council 
members. Council, panel and sub-committee members 
are recused from the meeting when there is any conflict 
of interest item discussed.

The entity’s Supply Chain Management Unit issues a 
Standard Bid Document (SBD) 4 form in line with National 
Treasury and Supply Management regulations. This form 
is issued to all suppliers to ensure that they declare 
possible interest of any business activities with the NAC.

CODE OF 
CONDUCT 

Our Code of Ethics governs the ethical conduct of 
Council, Committees and NAC employees alike. The 
Code deals in particular with matters such as conflicts 
of interest, gifts and relationships with service providers 
and beneficiaries. Based on the Code, it is standard 
practice to conduct risk assessments for all beneficiaries 
recommended for NAC funding.  

The conduct of Council is governed by the NAC 
Corporate Governance Framework which stipulates that 
each member is obliged to act honestly and in good faith. 

In particular, the Framework requires all members to:

• Act within their powers and in the interest, and for 
the benefit of the NAC;

• Not to act with self interest in making short and 
long-term decisions;

• Carry out their duties with appropriate skill and care, 
and exercise their own judgement;

• Uphold the values and objectives of the NAC;
• Uphold the NAC’s core policies;
• Contribute to and share responsibility for Council 

decisions;
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• Read Council papers;
• Attend and effectively participate in meetings, 

training sessions and other events;
• Represent the NAC and its values, policies and 

decisions;
• Declare any relevant interest;
• Furnish the NAC’s auditors with all information and 

explanations they require;
• Respect confidentiality of information and not 

disclose confidential information about the NAC, its 
staff or its stakeholders; and

• Comply with the law, letter and spirit of the 
corporate governance principles and practices set 
out in the Framework.

Non-complying Council members are subject to the
provisions of the NAC Act with regard to vacating their
seat on Council and non-compliant staff members are
subject to the NAC’s disciplinary process.
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The NAC is a very small organisation with no specific hazards in the work conducted on a daily basis. In accordance 
with the Occupational Health and Safety Act, the NAC has a duly appointed safety officer, floor marshals and first aid 
resources.

HEALTH SAFETY AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

THE NAC BOARD SECRETARY IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 
THE FOLLOWING DUTIES: 

PROVIDING COMPANY SECRETARIAL AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT

• Assist Chairperson of Council and CEO to determine 
the Annual Council Plan;

• Compile and distribute Council packs 7 days prior to 
the meeting;

• Accurate capturing and distribution of minutes 10 
days after the meeting;

• Ensure that resolutions, policies and all 
documentation capturing decisions taken are signed 
and properly filed;

• Ensure proper conduct of Board Committee Meetings 
and the production of minutes;

• Coordinating Council communications as necessary 
given by deadlines;

• Prepare all relevant documentation for Council and 
committee meetings;

• Gather departmental reports in advance prior to 
Council and Committee meetings with the CEO’s 
support; and 

• Follow up on action items to ensure that decisions are 
implemented.

COORDINATE LOGISTICS FOR MEETINGS

• Maintain an updated calendar of Council and 
Committee meetings;

• Ensure Committee members are reminded of 
meetings 14 days in advance of the meeting;

• Schedule additional meetings when required;
• Ensure that meeting rooms are set up and catering 

has been arranged; and
• Ensure that meeting packs are sent out 7 days in 

advance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

• Ensure compliance with all relevant regulations, 
provisions of the PFMA and King IVTM codes of Good 
practice;

• Ensure Service Level Agreements and Code of 
Conduct is signed by all Council members;

• Ensure Council members are inducted and receive 
training related to their work;

• Coordinating the Council evaluation process;
• Ensuring that files of Council members are kept 

securely;
• Ensuring that annual declarations of interest of 

Council members recorded and filed and a members 
register is kept;

• Ensuring that meeting declarations are signed and 
filed;

• Ensure the Council and Committee Charters are 
reviewed annually.

COMPANY/BOARD 
SECRETARY 
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND 
ATTENDANCE

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises of the members 
listed hereunder and should meet at least 2 times per 
annum as per Section 7 of the PFMA. The NAC Audit 
and Risk Committee Charter states that it is anticipated 
that the ARC will meet three or four time each year, 
but may hold additional meetings as determined by the 
Chairperson in order for the ARC to fulfil its duties and 
responsibilities. During the year under review, 6 meetings 
were held (30 April 2019, 28 May 2019, 26 July 2019, 22 
November 2019, 6 December 2019 and 19 March 2020).

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITY 

The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has 
complied with its responsibilities arising from section 
55(1)(a) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1. 
The Audit and Risk Committee also reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference in the 
audit committee charter, has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained therein.

THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The system of internal controls applied by the National 
Arts Council over financial and risk management is 
effective, efficient and transparent. In line with the 
PFMA and the King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
requirements, the internal Audit provides the audit 
committee and management with the assurance that 
internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is 
achieved by means of the risk management process, 
as well as the identification of corrective actions and 
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. 
From the various reports of the internal auditors, the 
Audit Report on the audited annual financial statements, 
and the management report of the Auditor-General South 
Africa, it was noted that no matters were reported that 
indicate any material deficiencies in the system of internal 
control or any deviations therefrom. Accordingly, we can 
report that the system of internal control over financial 
reporting for the period under review was efficient and 
effective.

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied with the 
content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports 

The NAC is positioned within the sector of society that 
carries out social responsibility on behalf of the National 
government. The entity’s social responsibility includes all 
the tasks performed over and above our mandate that 
serves constituents.
 

These are:
• Webinars 
• Beneficiary profiling
• Business matchmaking
• Up-skilling and development of beneficiaries

CORPORATE & SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE REPORT 
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prepared and issued by the management of the NAC of 
South Africa during the year under review.

EVALUATION OF AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 
statements to be included in the annual report, with 
the Auditor-General and the internal auditors;

• reviewed changes in accounting policies and 
practices; and

• reviewed the entities compliance with legal and 
regulatory provisions.

The Auditor General (AG) has raised a significant finding 
on ring fenced orchestra funding disbursements and 
ruled them all as irregular expenditure. The ARC had to 

ensure that this did not result in a negative audit outcome 
as the amounts in question are material. 

In light of this finding and longstanding discomfort by 
Council, regarding ring fenced orchestra funding, the NAC 
will no longer be in a position to disburse any ring fenced 
funding and/or orchestra funding.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the internal 
audit function is operating effectively and that it has 
addressed the risks pertinent to the NAC and its audits.

.......................................
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
National Arts Council 
September 2020

B-BBEE COMPLIANCE 
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

CODE OF GOOD PRACTICE (B-BBEE CERTIFICATE LEVELS 1 – 8)

Criteria Response 
Yes / No Discussion

Determining qualification criteria for the 
issuing of licences, concessions or other 
authorisations in respect of economic 
activity in terms of any Law?

No Not Applicable

Developing and implementing a 
preferential procurement policy? 

Yes All procurement at the NAC is done in 
accordance with the Preferential Procurement 
Policy Framework Act.

Determining qualification criteria for the 
sale of state-owned enterprises? 

No Not Applicable

Developing criteria for entering into 
partnerships with the private sector?

No Not Applicable

Determining criteria for the awarding 
of incentives, grants and investment 
schemes in support of Broad Based Black 
Economic Empowerment?

Yes The NAC supports Broad Based Black Economic 
Empowerment by funding the initiatives/projects 
of previously disadvantaged individuals through 
youth and woman empowerment.

The NAC complies with the Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment Act as per the below table
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Designecologist
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PART D 
Human Resource Management

Kelly Elko
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OVERVIEW OF HUMAN RESOURCE  MATTERS 

The 2019/20 financial year proved to be a challenging and 
important period to accelerate the implementation of 
the NAC’s revised strategy. The importance of strategy 
implementation and the creation of high performance 
culture in the NAC as a whole, put the Human Resources 
Unit under the microscope. 

The systematic roll out of the enhanced Performance 
Management System has a pivotal role to play in 
driving the staff and the organisation towards higher 
performance. It is clear that the HR Unit needs to 
provide strategic support to the CEO and Unit Managers 
to ensure the system is implemented consistently and 
timeously throughout the entity. Constant monitoring and 
implementation of the HR Operational Plan enabled the 
unit to ensure that targets set in the APP are achieved. 

The rolling out of the Culture Change Programme was 
also an important initiative to foster a culture of high 
employee engagement; which will in turn impact on the 
development of a high performance culture.

HR PRIORITIES

The Human Resource strategy has four key priority 
areas to support the NAC to achieve its overall strategic 
objectives. These are:

• An effective Performance Management System;
• Staff development and talent management;
• Healthy internal communications and employee 

relations; and
• Robust HR systems and data management.

These priority areas are aimed at enhancing efficiency 
and contribute towards instilling a culture of high 
organisational performance.

WORKFORCE PLANNING FRAMEWORK

The NAC has an ageing workforce with many staff 
members that have occupied the same job for over 10 
years with limited expansion of job scope and/or career
path development. On the other hand, the youth
unemployment crisis requires all entities to create
opportunities for youth employment. The NAC needs
to pay attention to this dichotomy going forward to
ensure our staff, young and old, are adept at managing
the requirements of rapid digitisation in the workplace 
(i.e. Artificial Intelligence and the 4IR).

Establishing partnerships with higher learning institutions 
through internship programs targeted at students whose 
studies align with the creative industry, remains a priority. 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The implementation of a new Performance Management 
System, aimed at ensuring performance is continuously 
monitored and rewarded, will foster a high performance 
culture and enhance efficiency. 

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS PROGRAMMES

To ensure that employee well-being is adequately catered 
for, a service provider was appointed in September 
2019 to provide a wider range of employee wellness 
programmes.

INTRODUCTION
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In July 2019, staff participated in an annual fun walk
(MTN 702 Walk the Talk) as part of our annual wellness
calendar programme; as well as the annual Wellness Day 
in December 2019. 

These wellness programmes take a ‘whole person’ 
perspective on NAC staff and provides employees with 
incentives, tools, social support, privacy and strategies to 
adopt and maintain healthy behaviours.

HIGHLIGHTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS

The following were the highlights for the period under 
review:

• Appointment of the NAC’s Employees Wellness 
Service Provider (Employee Assistance Program);

• Increased staff morale through the participation 
in the MTN Walk the Talk and the Dialogue Culture 
Change Phase 1;

• Rolling out of the enhanced Performance 
Management System; and

• Full utilisation of the human resource information 
system (HR Premier).

CHALLENGES

• Shrinking HR budget with high expectations of 
creating a high performance culture;

• Building and maintaining staff morale amid negative 
publicity; and

• Securing a permanent budget for a mission critical 
position – the HR Manager.

FUTURE HR PLANS/GOALS

• Leverage digital platforms to automate key HR 
transactions and data collection;

• Establish discipline and best practices around 
ongoing performance and talent management,

• Develop clear understandable HR policies that 
balance the interests of both management and 
employees; and

• Continue to build a culture that embraces high 
quality performance and innovation. 

Diego  Rosa
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FOR THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW, THE NAC EMPLOYED

[ ] [ ] [ ]
PERMANENT STAFF 

MEMBERS 
CONTRACTUAL STAFF 

MEMBERS 
INTERNS

HUMAN RESOURCE 
OVERSIGHT STATISTICS 

PERSONNEL COST BY PROGRAMME/ ACTIVITY/ OBJECTIVE
Programme Total 

Expenditure 
for the Entity 
(R’000)

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel Exp. 
as a % of Total 
Exp.
(R’000)

No. of 
Employees

Average 
Personnel Cost 
Per Employee  
(R’000)

NAC Staff 116 448 21 160 18 36 588

Temporary Staff 116 448 586 1 4 147

Provisions 116 448 6 0.01 40 0.2

Total 116 448 21 752 19 40 735
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PERSONNEL COST BY SALARY BAND
Level Personnel 

Expenditure 

(R’000)

% of Personnel 
Exp. to Total Cost 

(R’000)

No. of 
Employees

Average Personnel 
Cost Per Employee

(R’000)
Top Management 2 963 14 2 1 482
Senior Management 1 093 5 1 1 093
Professional Qualified 4 212 19 5 842
Skilled 11 784 54 19 620
Semi-skilled 1 156 5 10 116
Unskilled 544 3 3 181
TOTAL 21 752 100 40 4 334

PERFORMANCE REWARDS
Programme Performance 

Rewards
Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000)

% of Performance 
Rewards to 
Total Personnel 
Cost(R’000)

Top Management 92 2 963 3
Senior Management 1 093 0
Professional Qualified  4 212 0
Skilled 188 11 784 2
Semi-skilled 14 1 156 1
Unskilled 544 0
TOTAL 294 21 752 6

TRAINING COSTS 
Directorate/Business Unit Personnel 

Expenditure 

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure

(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure 
as a % of 
Personnel 
Cost.

No. of 
Employees 
Trained

Average 
Training Cost 
Per Employee

Finance 5 037 49 1 6 8
Grants 7 954 93 1 9 10
Operations 1 146 14 1 2 7
Admin 1 620 23 1 3 8
Marketing 1 070 12 1 1 12
CEO’s Office 3 192 8 0.3 3 3
Human Resources 1 733 23 1 3 8
TOTAL 21 752 222 6.3 27 56

EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES
Programme 2017/2018 

No. of 
Employees

2018/2019 
Approved 
Posts

2019/2020
No. of 
Employees

2019/2020 
Vacancies

% of Vacancies

NAC 34 34 31 3
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EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES
Programme 2017/2018 

No. of 
Employees

2018/2019 
Approved 
Posts

2019/2020
No. of 
Employees

2019/2020 
Vacancies

% of Vacancies

Top Management 2 2 2 - -
Senior Management 1 1 1 - -
Professional qualified 5 6 5 - -
Skilled 17 17 17 - -
Semi-skilled 3 3 3 - -
Unskilled 3 3 3 - -
Total 31 34 31 - -

EMPLOYMENT CHANGES
Salary Band Employment at 

Beginning of 
Period

Appointments Terminations Employment at 
End of Period

Top Management 2 1 1 2
Senior Management 1 0 0 1
Professional Qualified 5 1 1 5
Skilled 17 1 0 18
Semi-skilled 3 0 1 2
Unskilled 3 0 0 3
Total 31 3 3 31

REASONS FOR STAFF LEAVING 
Reason Number
Death 0
Resignation 3
Dismissal 0
Retirement 0
Ill Health 0
Expiry of Contract 0
Other 0
Total 3

LABOUR RELATIONS: MISCONDUCT AND DISCIPLINARY ACTION
Nature of Disciplinary Action Number 
Verbal Warning 1
Written Warning 15
Final Written Warning 2
Dismissal 0
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According to the Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act 55 of 1998), the NAC is not required by legislation to set equity targets 
owing to the size of its staff complement. The NAC currently has a staff complement of 30.

EQUITY TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS 

MALE

Levels
AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 8 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

EQUITY TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS 

FEMALE

Levels
AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 12 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 20 0 2 0 0 0 0 0

EQUITY TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS 

STAFF LIVING WITH DISABILITIES 

Levels
MALE FEMALE

Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 0 0 0 0

Skilled 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0
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3.2.5 Capacity Building

Capacity building is an essential element for developing 
the arts to ensure excellence. Through support for the 
provision of training and education, the programme offers 
grants to help grow the talent of arts practitioners and 
other industry-related professionals, such as community 
art centre managers, art programme managers, art 
technicians and arts administrators. This will ensure that 
South Africa has a sustainable pool of talented artists 
and leaders. Forty (40) beneficiaries were supported to 
undertake capacity building projects. Seventy-one (71) 
post-graduate students were supported and thirteen (13) 
institutions were supported

ARTS ADMINISTRATION 

2018/2019 2019/2020

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure

R’000

Budget 

R’000

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000

76,691 77,915 (1,224) 80,967 80,756 211

TABLE 7:  SUMMARY OF PAYMENTS FOR PROGRAMMES                

Nathaniel Tetteh
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PART E
Financial Information

Suad Kamardeen
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The Council is required by the 
Public Finance management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain 
adequate accounting records and 

is responsible for the content and integrity 
of the audited annual financial statements 
and related financial 
information included 
in this report. It is the 
responsibility of the 
Council to ensure that 
the audited annual 
financial statements 
fairly present the 
state of affairs of 
the NAC as at the 
end of the financial 
year and the results 
of its operations and 
cash flows for the 
period then ended. 
The external auditors 
are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the audited annual financial 
statements and were given unrestricted 
access to all financial records and related 
data.

The audited annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

The audited annual financial statements are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The Council acknowledges that 
it is ultimately responsible for 
the system of internal financial 
controls established by the 
NAC and places considerable 
importance on maintaining a 
strong control environment. 
To enable management to 
meet these responsibilities, 
the Council sets standards 
for internal controls aimed 
at reducing the risk of error 
or deficit in a cost effective 
manner.

The standards include 
the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective 

accounting procedures and adequate segregation of 
duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout the NAC and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the NAC’s business is conducted in a manner that 
in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The 
focus of risk management in the NAC is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the NAC. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the NAC endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 

COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
AND APPROVAL

“... all employees 
are required to 

maintain the highest 
ethical standards in 
ensuring the NAC’s 

business is conducted 
in a manner that 
in all reasonable 
circumstances is 
above reproach.”
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that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 
ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Council is of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that 
the financial records may be relied on for the preparation 
of the audited annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or deficit.

The Council has reviewed the NAC’s cash flow position 
for the year to 31 March 2021 and in the light of this 
review and the current financial position, it is satisfied 
that the NAC has access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future.

The NAC is wholly dependent on the Department of Arts 
and Culture for continued funding of operations. The 
audited annual financial statements are prepared on the 
basis that the NAC is a going concern.

Although the Council is primarily responsible for the 
financial affairs of the NAC, it is supported by the NAC’s 
external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the NAC’s audited annual 
financial statements. The audited annual financial 
statements have been audited by the NAC’s external 
auditors and their report is presented on page 85.

.....................................................
Mr Hartley Ngoato
Council Chairperson
National Arts Council
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
 
Opinion

1. I have audited the financial statements of the 
National Arts Council of South Africa set out on 
pages 90 to 121, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2020, statement 
of financial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets, cash flow statement and statement 
of comparison of budget information with actual 
information for the year then ended, as well as 
the notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the National Arts Council of South Africa as at 31 
March 2020, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (Standards of GRAP) and the requirements 
of the Public Finance Management Act of South 
Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

Basis for opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of this 
auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the entity in accordance with 
sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for 

professional accountants and, parts 1 and 3 of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA codes) as well as the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to my audit in South 
Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA 
codes

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the 
financial statements

6. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the Standards of 
GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA and for 
such internal control as the accounting authority 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

7. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the appropriate governance structure either intends 
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

 
AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF THE 
AUDITOR-GENERAL

TO PARLIAMENT ON NATIONAL ARTS COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA
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8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is included in the 
annexure to this auditor’s report.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE REPORT
 
Introduction and scope

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 
Africa 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a 
responsibility to report on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information 
against predetermined objectives for selected 
programme presented in the annual performance 
report. I performed procedures to identify material 
findings but not to gather evidence to express 
assurance.

11. My procedures address the usefulness and reliability 
of the reported performance information, which 
must be based on the approved performance 
planning documents of the entity. I have not 
evaluated the completeness and appropriateness 
of the performance indicators included in the 
planning documents. My procedures do not examine 
whether the actions taken by the entity enabled 
service delivery. My procedures also do not extend 
to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned 
performance strategies and information in respect 
of future periods that may be included as part of the 
reported performance information. Accordingly, my 
findings do not extend to these matters.

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information in accordance 
with the criteria developed from the performance 
management and reporting framework, as defined 
in the general notice, for the following selected 
programmes presented in the annual performance 
report of the entity for the year ended 31 March 
2020.

Programmes Pages in the annual  
performance report

Administration 27 - 36

13. I performed procedures to determine whether 
the reported performance information was 
properly presented and whether performance was 
consistent with the approved performance planning 
documents. I performed further procedures to 
determine whether the indicators and related targets 
were measurable and relevant, and assessed the 
reliability of the reported performance information 
to determine whether it was valid, accurate and 
complete.

14. I did not identify any material findings on 
the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information for this programme: 
Administration.

Other matter
 
15. I draw attention to the matter below. My conclusion 

is not modified in respect of this matter.

ACHIEVEMENT OF PLANNED TARGETS

16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 27 
to 36 for information on the achievement of planned 
targets for the year and explanations provided for 
the under- and over achievement of targets.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH 
LEGISLATION 

Introduction and scope

17. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 
report material findings on the entity’s compliance 
with specific matters in key legislation. I performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance.

18. I did not identify any material findings on compliance 
with the specific matters in key legislation set out in 
the general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

OTHER INFORMATION

19. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report. The 
other information does not include the financial 
statements, the auditor’s report and those selected 
programmes presented in the annual performance 
report that have been specifically reported in this 
auditor’s report.

20. My opinion on the financial statements and findings 
on the reported performance information and 
compliance with legislation do not cover the other 
information and I do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

21. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements and 
the selected programmes presented in the annual 
performance report, or my knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

22. The other information I obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report is a draft annual report and the 
final annual report is expected to be made available 
to us after 30 September 2020. If, based on the work 
I have performed on the other information that I 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 

I conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, I am required to report 
that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 
When I do receive and read the final annual report, 
if I conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, I am required to communicate the matter 
to those charged with governance and request that 
the other information be corrected. If the other 
information is not corrected, I may have to retract 
this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report 
as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not 
be necessary.

INTERNAL CONTROL DEFICIENCIES
 
23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements, reported performance 
information and compliance with applicable 
legislation; however, my objective was not to express 
any form of assurance on it. I did not identify any 
significant deficiencies in internal control.

30 September 2020
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AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
AUDIT

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, 
I exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout my audit of the 
financial statements and the procedures performed 
on reported performance information for selected 
programme and on the entity’s compliance with 
respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 
financial statements as described in this auditor’s 
report, I also:

• identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error; design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of 
internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the accounting 
authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements. I also conclude, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists relating to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the ability of the National 
Arts Council of South Africa to continue as a going 
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements about the material uncertainty or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion 
on the financial statements. My conclusions are 
based on the information available to me at the date 
of this auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause an entity to cease operating as 
a going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and determine whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to have a bearing on my independence 
and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

ANNEXURE
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Craig Whitehead
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The members submit their report for the year ended      
31 March 2020.

GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2020, 
the entity had accumulated a surplus of R9,657,279 
and that the entity’s total assets exceed its liabilities by                  
R16,572,198.

The audited annual financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable 
to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds 
will be available to finance future operations and that 
the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the 
ordinary course of business.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board of the National Arts Council (NAC) has 
resolved to provide relief funding to beneficiaries of 
the 2019/2020 funding cycle within the 2019/20 financial 
year. An amount of R4,217,813 from the 2020/21 budget 
has been reprioritised to Covid relief funding. A further         
R12,352,406 from cash reserves has also been redirected 
to Covid relief.

The project funding cycle in the 2020/21 financial year 
will be awarded on the basis of compliance to Covid-19 
legislation.

The NAC, as a schedule 3A national public entity of the 
Department of Arts and Culture, will continue as a going 
concern to fulfil its mandate in the 2020/21 financial year.

ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY’S REPORT
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STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Note(s) 2020 2019
R R

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 9,829,286 8,672,297
Intangible assets 3 167,951 268,722

9,997,237 8,941,019

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables from exchange 4 460,399 111,078
Cash and cash equivalents 5 64,819,889 42,702,038

65,280,288 42,813,116
Total Assets 75,277,525 51,754,135

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 6 1,088,740 1,117,524
Deferred grant income 7 - 1,489,940
Provisions 8 2,616,867 3,026,153
Projects and bursaries payable 9 54,999,720 34,592,145
Total Liabilities 58,705,327 40,225,762

Net Assets 16,572,198 11,528,373

Reserves

Revaluation reserve 10 6,914,919 5,588,990
Accumulated surplus 9,657,279 5,939,383
Total Net Assets 16,572,198 11,528,373

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020
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Note(s) 2020 2019
R R

REVENUE

Revenue from exchange transactions

Other income 11 207,429 15,769
Interest received - investment 12 2,805,773 1,842,649

Total revenue from exchange transactions 3,013,202 1,858,418

REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Transfer revenue
Government grants & subsidies 117,182,095 110,276,656
Total revenue 13 120,195,297 112,135,074

EXPENDITURE

Bad Debts (9,930) -
Depreciation and amortisation 2&3 (1,057,168) (1,325,312)
Employee-related costs 14 (21,752,580) (23,031,034)
Operating expenses 15 (12,872,399) (12,846,338)
Projects and bursaries’ expenses 16 (80,756,020) (77,918,347)
Total expenditure (116,448,097) (115,121,031)
Operating deficit 3,747,200 (2,985,957)
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (29,302) (562)
Surplus (deficit) for the year 3,717,898 (2,986,519)

STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN NET ASSETS

Revaluation
Reserve

Accumulated
Surplus

Total Net
Assets

R R R
BALANCE AT 01 APRIL 2018 6,992,103 8,925,902 15,918,005
Changes in net assets 
Deficit for the year - (2,986,519) (2,986,519)
Revaluation of assets (1,403,113) - (1,403,113)
Total changes (1,403,113) (2,986,519) (4,389,632)
Balance at 01 April 2019 5,588,990 5,939,381 11,528,371
Changes in net assets 
Surplus for the year - 3,717,898 3,717,898
Revaluation of assets 1,325,929 - 1,325,929
Total changes 1,325,929 3,717,898 5,043,827
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2020 6,914,919 9,657,279 16,572,198
Note(s) 10

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Note(s) 2020 2019
R R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Other income 207,429 237,669
Grants and other income received 115,692,155 111,540,107
Interest income 2,805,773 1,842,649

118,705,357 113,620,425

Payments

Employee costs (22,163,866) (23,034,495)
Suppliers (13,269,666) (11,968,557)
Projects and bursaries (60,337,213) (69,541,840)

(95,770,745) (104,544,892)
Net cash flows from operating activities 17 22,934,612 9,075,533

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (819,460) (564,102)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2 2,699 -
NET cash flows from investing activities (816,761) (564,102)

NET increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 22,117,851 8,511,431
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 42,702,038 34,190,607
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 64,819,889 42,702,038

CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF 
COMPARISON OF BUDGET 
AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

Approved 
Budget

Actual 
Amounts on 
Comparable 

Basis

Diffrence 
Between Final 

Budget and 
Actual

R R R

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

REVENUE
Revenue from exchange transactions
Other income - 207,429 207,429
Interest received - investment 1,800,000 2,805,773 1,005,773
Total revenue from exchange transactions 1,800,000 3,013,202 1,213,202

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government grants and subsidies 115,666,000 117,182,095 1,516,095
Total revenue 117,466,000 120,195,297 2,729,297

EXPENDITURE

Bad debts - (9,930) (9,930)

Depreciation and amortisation - (1,057,168) (1,057,168)
Employee related costs  (23,696,000) (21,752,580) 1,943,420
Operating expenses (12,803,000) (12,872,399) (69,399
Projects and bursaries expenses (80,967,000) (80,756,020) 210,980
Total expenditure (117,466,000) (116,448,097) 1,017,903

Operating surplus - 3,747,200 3,707,200
Loss on disposal of assets - (29,302) (29,302)
Surplus before taxation - 3,717,898 3,717,898
Actual Amount on Comparable Basis as Presented in the 
Budget and Actual Comparative Statement - 3,717,898 3,717,898

BUDGET ON ACCRUAL BASIS
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1. PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL  
    STATEMENTS

The audited annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 
91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 
1999).

These audited annual financial statements have been 
prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in 
accordance  with historical cost convention as the basis 
of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are 
presented in South African Rand.

The GRAP standards complied with are as a listed 
in Directive 5 of the Accounting Standards Board 
(“Determining the GRAP Reporting Framework”).

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied in the preparation of these 
audited annual financial statements, are disclosed below.

1.1 New standards and interpretations

GRAP Standards issued and effective that apply to the 
entity in the current period are as follows:
• GRAP 20: Related Party Disclosures (Effective 1 April 

2019)

Further GRAP Standards issued but not yet effective, and 
not relevant to the operations of NAC are listed below:

• GRAP 18 Segment Reporting (effective 1 April 2020)

•  GRAP 34: Separate Financial Statements

Management has considered all the above-mentioned 

GRAP Standards approved but not yet effective and 
anticipates that the adoption of these standards will 
not have a significant impact on the financial position, 
financial performance or cash flow of the entity.

1.2 Significant judgements and sources of estimation  
 uncertainty

In preparing the audited annual financial statements, 
management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that  affect the amounts represented in 
the audited annual financial statements and related 
disclosures. Use of available information and the 
application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from 
these estimates which may be material to the audited 
annual financial statements.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for 
use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are 
expected to be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the 
entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 
cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
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the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of 
acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is 
acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or 
monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-
monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured 
at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value 
was not determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying 
amount of the asset(s) given up.
 
Property, plant and equipment (with the exception of 
land and buildings) is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Land and buildings are carried at revalued amount, 
being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that 
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that 
which would be determined using fair value at the end of 
the reporting period.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is 
revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the 
revaluation is restated proportionately with the change 
in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the 
carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its 
revalued amount.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation 
Method

Average 
Useful Life

Land Indefinite

Buildings Straight line 50 years

Furniture and Fixtures Straight line 6 years

Motor Vehicles Straight line 5 years

Office Equipment Straight line 5 years

Computer Equipment Straight line 3 years

Paintings Not depreciated

Banners Straight line 3 years

Photocopiers Straight line 5 years

Digital Equipment Straight line 3 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation 
method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis 
does not require the entity to amend the previous 
estimate unless expectations differ from the previous 
estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised 
in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount of the item.
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1.4 Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:

• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or 
divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, 
rented or exchanged, either individually or together 
with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, 
regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights 
from contracts), regardless of whether those rights 
are transferable or separable from the entity or from 
other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that 
confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it 
as if it were in the form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits or service potential that are attributable to 
the asset will flow to the entity; and

•  the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured 
reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected 
future economic benefits or service potential using 
reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent 
management’s best estimate of the set of economic 
conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of 
acquisition is measured at its fair value as at that date.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite 
useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset 
is expected to generate net cash inflows or service 
potential. Amortisation is not provided for these 
intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets 

amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their 
useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an 
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the 
asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying 
amount is amortised over its useful life.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as 
follows:

Item Useful Life

Computer software, other 2 years

Assets under construction will be amortised when 
brought into use.

1.5 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a 
residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through 
the use of an allowance account) for impairment or 
uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial 
instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.
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Derecognition  is the removal of a previously recognised 
financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s 
statement of financial position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract 
with all three of the following characteristics:

•  Its value changes in response to the change in a 
specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of 
prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable, provided in the case of  a non-financial 
variable that the variable is not specific to a party to 
the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’).

•  It requires no initial net investment or an initial net 
investment that is smaller than would be required for 
other types  of contracts that would be expected to 
have a similar response to changes in market factors.

•  It is settled at a future date.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability (or group of financial assets or financial 
liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar 
options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP 
on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), transaction 
costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is 
a presumption that the cash flows and the expected 
life of a group of similar financial instruments can be 
estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when 
it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or 
the expected life of a financial instrument (or group of 
financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual 
cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial 
instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:

• cash;

• a residual interest of another entity; or

• a contractual right to:

 » receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity; or

 » exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially 
favourable to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires 
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual 
obligation to:

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another 
entity; or

• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under 
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the 
entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the 
event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 
another financial asset.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-
term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in  market prices. Market risk comprises three 
types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other 
price risk.
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Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices (other than those arising 
from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all 
similar financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has 
failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. A residual interest includes contributions from 
owners, which may be shown as:

• equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;

• a formal designation of a transfer of resources 
(or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the 
transaction as forming part of an entity’s net assets, 
either before the contribution occurs or at the time 
of the contribution; or

• a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, 
establishing or increasing an existing financial interest 
in the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a 
financial asset or financial liability. An incremental cost 
is one that would not have been incurred if the entity 
had not acquired,  issued or  disposed of the financial 
instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-
derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial 
liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, 
excluding those instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; 
or

• are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual 
interests that do not have a quoted market price in an 
active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial 
assets or financial liabilities that are:

•  derivatives;

•  combined instruments that are designated at fair 
value;

•  instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is 
held for trading if:

 » it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or

 » on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that are managed 
together and for which there is evidence of a 
recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;

 » non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities 
with fixed or determinable payments that are 
designated at fair value at initial recognition; and

 » financial instruments that do not meet the 
definition of financial instruments at amortised 
cost or financial instruments at cost.

CLASSIFICATION

The entity has the following types of financial assets 
(classes and category) as reflected on the face of the 
statement of  financial position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and other receivables 
from exchange

Financial asset measured 
at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured 
at amortised cost

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities 
(classes and category) as reflected on the face of the 
statement of financial position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and other payables Financial liability measured 
at amortised cost

Projects and bursaries 
payables

Financial liability measured 
at amortised cost

Deferred grants income Financial liability measured 
at amortised cost
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Trade and receivables received without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange are recognised as 
trade and other receivables from exchange transactions.

Trade debtors are receipts comprise of taxes receivable 
from SARS, prepayment and return of project funds 
which were unable to continue. Staff advances, deposit 
and interest receivable are recognised as exchange.

Management recognises the receivables as exchange 
transactions due to the nature of each of the 
transactions.

1.6 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets managed with the 
objective of generating a commercial return. An asset 
generates a commercial return when it is deployed in a 
manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-oriented 
entity.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-
generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits 
or service potential of an asset, over and above the 
systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s 
future economic benefits or service potential through 
depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position after 
deducting any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group 
of assets managed with the objective of generating  a 
commercial  return that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly 
attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance 
costs and income tax expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of 
the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from 
the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cashgenerat-
ing asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

Useful life is either:

a. the period of time over which an asset is expected to 
be used by the entity; or

b. the number of production or similar units expected 
to be obtained from the asset by the entity.

IDENTIFICATION

When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset 
exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may 
be impaired.   If any such indication exists, the entity 
estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-
generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus 
or deficit.

Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating 
asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss 
is greater than the carrying amount of the non-cash-
generating asset to which it relates, the entity recognises 
a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the 
Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the 
depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-
generating  asset  is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, 
less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over 
its remaining useful life.
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 REVERSAL OF AN IMPAIRMENT LOSS

The entity assess at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a non-cash-generating asset may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, 
the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of 
that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a 
non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable service amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable service amount. The 
increase is a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased 
carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of 
an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying  amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or 
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-
generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or 
deficit. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued 
non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-
generating asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, 
less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over 
its remaining useful life.

1.7 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by 
an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued 
by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the 
Standard   of GRAP on Related Party Disclosures) of the 
reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used 
only to pay or fund employee benefits under a defined 
benefit plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s 
own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be paid to 
the reporting entity, unless either:

•  the proceeds represent surplus assets that are 
not needed for the policy to meet all the related 
employee benefit obligations; or

• the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to 
reimburse it for employee benefits already paid.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a 
result of either:

• an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s 
employment before the normal retirement date; or

• an employee’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee 
benefits (other than post-employment benefits and 
termination benefits) that are not due to be settled 
within twelve months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are 
not conditional on future employment.

Composite social security programmes are established by 
legislation and operate as multi-employer plans to provide 
post-employment benefits as well as to provide benefits 
that are not consideration in exchange for service 
rendered by employees.

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives 
from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern 
of past practice, published policies or a sufficiently 
specific current statement, the entity has indicated to 
other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities 
and as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation 
on the part of those other parties that it will discharge 
those responsibilities.
 
SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits 
(other than termination benefits) that are due to be 
settled within twelve months after the end of the period 
in which the employees render the related service.
Short-term employee benefits include items such as:
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•  wages, salaries and social security contributions;

•  short-term compensated absences (such as 
paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the 
compensation for the absences is due to be settled 
within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related 
employee service; and

•  bonus, incentive and performance related payments 
payable. 

When an employee has rendered service to the entity 
during a reporting period, the entity recognise the 
undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits 
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

•  as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 
amount already paid. If the amount already paid 
exceeds the undiscounted amount of the benefits, 
the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid 
expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead 
to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a 
cash refund; and

•  as an expense, unless another Standard requires or 
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an 
asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is 
recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase  their entitlement or, in the case of 
non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. 
The entity measure the expected  cost of accumulating 
compensated absences as the additional amount that 
the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus, 
incentive and performance related payments when the 
entity has a present legal or constructive obligation 
to make such payments as a result of past events and 
a reliable estimate of the obligation can  be made. A 
present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic 
alternative but to make the payments.

1.8 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

•  the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;

•  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be 
required to settle the obligation; and

•  a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, 
the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for 
the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions 
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potential will be required, to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a 
provision increases in each period to reflect the passage 
of time. This increase is recognised as an interest 
expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the 
provision was originally recognised. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating deficits.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present 
obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is 
recognised and measured as a provision.
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A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires 
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit 
under pre-specified terms and conditions.

The entity recognises a provision for financial guarantees 
and loan commitments when it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits and 
service potential will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable 
in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. 
Indications that an outflow of resources may be probable are:

•  financial difficulty of the debtor;

•  defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital 
repayments by the debtor;

•  breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that 
result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term 
and the  ability of the debtor to settle its obligation 
on the amended terms; and

•  a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. 
high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) 
that impact on the ability of entities to repay their 
obligations.

Where a fee is received by the entity for issuing a 
financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan 
commitments, it is considered in determining the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation 
at reporting date. Where a fee is charged and the entity 
considers that an outflow of economic resources is 
probable, an entity recognises the obligation at the higher 
of:

• the amount determined using in the Standard of 
GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets; and

• the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue 
from Exchange Transactions.

1.9 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential during the reporting period when those 
inflows result in an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity 
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in 
the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other 
party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

MEASUREMENT

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

1.10  Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions 
where the entity receives value from another entity 
without directly giving approximately equal value in 
exchange.

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential during the reporting period when those 
inflows result in an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

MEASUREMENT

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.
 
GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised as revenue when:
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•  it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
the entity,

•  the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, 
and

•  to the extent that there has been compliance with any 
restrictions associated with the grant.

The entity assesses the degree of certainty attached to 
the flow of future economic benefits or service potential 
on the basis of the available evidence. Certain grants 
payable by one level of government to another are 
subject to the availability of funds. Revenue from these 
grants is only recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefits or service potential associated  with 
the transaction will flow to the entity. An announcement 
at the beginning of a financial year that grants may be 
available for qualifying entities in accordance with an 
agreed programme may not be sufficient evidence of the 
probability of the flow. Revenue is then only recognised 
once evidence of the probability of the flow becomes 
available.

Restrictions on government grants may result in such 
revenue being recognised on a time proportion basis. 
Where there is no restriction on the period, such revenue 
is recognised on receipt or when the Act becomes 
effective, which-ever is earlier.

When government remit grants on a re-imbursement 
basis, revenue is recognised when the qualifying expense 
has been incurred and to the extent that any other 
restrictions have been complied with.

CONDITIONAL GRANTS AND RECEIPTS

Revenue received from conditional grants and funding 
are recognised as revenue to the extent that the National 
Arts Council of South Africa has complied with any of 
the criteria, conditions or obligations embodied in the 
agreement. To the extent that the criteria, conditions or 
obligations have not been met, a deferred grant income 
liability is recognised.

1.11  Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion 
basis using the effective interest method.

1.12  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure 
which was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement 
of financial performance in the year that the expenditure 
was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 
with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is 
subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement 
of financial performance.

1.13  Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA 
is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, 
incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance 
with a requirement of any applicable legislation, 
including-

a. this Act; or
b. the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 

1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
c. any provincial legislation providing for procurement 

procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which 
was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the 
PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

• Irregular expenditure that was incurred and 
identified during the current financial and which was 
condoned before year end and/or before finalisation 
of the financial statements must also be recorded 
appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In 
such an instance, no further action is also required 
with the exception of updating the note to the 
financial statements.

• Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and for which 
condonement is being awaited at year end must 
be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. 
No further action is required with the exception of 
updating the note to the financial statements.
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Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous 
financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the 
financial statements must be updated with the amount 
condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified 
during the current financial year and which was not 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant 
authority must be recorded appropriately in the 
irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular 
expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt 
account must be created if such a person is liable in law. 
Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover 
the amount from the person concerned. If recovery 
is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting 
authority may write off the amount as debt impairment 
and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial 
statements. The irregular expenditure register must also 
be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has 
not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the 
expenditure related thereto must remain against the 
relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as 
such in the note to the financial statements and updated 
accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.14 Budget information

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the 
form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or 
equivalent), which is given effect through authorising 
legislation, appropriation or similar.

The entity shall provide information whether resources 
were obtained and used in accordance with legally 
adopted budget for general purpose financial reporting.

The audited annual financial statements and the budget 
are not on the same basis of accounting. A comparison 
with the budgeted amounts for the reporting period has 
been included in the Statement of comparison of budget 
and actual amounts.

1.15  Related parties

The entity operates in an economic sector currently 
dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by 
the South African Government. As a consequence of 

the constitutional independence of the three spheres 
of government in South Africa, only entities within the 
national sphere of government are considered to be 
related parties.
 
Management are those persons responsible for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
including those charged with the governance of the 
entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where 
they are required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered 
to be those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that management in their 
dealings with the entity.

1.16  Events after reporting date

Events after reporting date are those events, both 
favourable and unfavourable, that occur between 
the reporting date and the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events 
can be identified:

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed 
at the reporting date (adjusting events after the 
reporting date); and

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after 
the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the 
reporting date).

The entity adjusts the amount recognised in the financial 
statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting 
date once the event occurrs.

The entity discloses the nature of the event and an 
estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such 
estimate cannot be made in respect of all material non-
adjusting events, where non-disclosure could influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2020 2019
Cost /

Valuation
Accumulated
Depreciation

and 
Accumulated
Impairment

Carrying Value Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
Depreciation

and 
Accumulated
Impairment

Carrying Value

Land 2,025,000 - 2,025,000 1,907,021 - 1,907,021
Buildings 6,956,983 (881,983) 6,075,000 5,750,512 (757,532) 4,992,980
Furniture and fixtures 1,029,068 (378,973) 650,095 922,628 (230,258) 692,370
Motor vehicles 151,042 (140,973) 10,069 151,042 (110,764) 40,278
Office equipment 1,021,208 (620,590) 400,618 828,390 (436,511) 391,879
Computer equipment 1,285,362 (849,296) 436,066 1,027,867 (783,341) 244,526
Paintings 52,270 - 52,270 52,270 - 52,270
Photocopiers 645,176 (505,388) 139,788 645,176 (376,353) 268,823
Banners 71,519 (31,139) 40,380 95,427 (13,277) 82,150
Digital equipment 19,555 (19,555) - 19,555 (19,555) -
Total 13,257,183 (3,427,897) 9,829,286 11,399,888 (2,727,591) 8,672,297

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 2020

Opening 
Balance

Additions Disposals Revaluations Depreciation Total

Land 1,907,021 - - 117,979 - 2,025,000
Buildings 4,992,980 - - 1,207,950 (125,930) 6,075,000
Furniture and fixtures 692,370 106,440 - - (148,715) 650,095
Motor vehicles 40,278 - - - (30,209) 10,069
Office equipment 391,879 192,818 - - (184,079) 400,618
Computer equipment 244,526 492,655 (2,145) - (298,970) 436,066
Paintings 52,270 - - - - 52,270
Photocopiers 268,823 - - - (129,035) 139,788
Banners 82,150 - (9,961) - (31,809) 40,380
Digital equipment - 27,547 (19,895) - (7,652) -

8,672,297 819,460 (32,001) 1,325,929 (956,399) 9,829,286
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CHANGE IN ESTIMATE: USEFUL LIFE OF ASSETS REVIEW

A change in the estimated useful life of assets in computer equipment and office equipment, resulted in a change in 
depreciation for the year. NAC discloses the nature and the amount resulting from the change in an accounting estimate 
that has an effect in the current period and is expected to have an effect in future. This change in estimate is applied 
prospectively.

REVALUATIONS/(IMPAIRMENT)

Land and buildings 1,325,929 (1,403,113)

The effective date of the revaluations was 31 March 2020. The revaluations were performed by an independent valuer, Mr 
Akoob, professional valuer of DDP Valuation and Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd. Mr Akoob is not connected to the National 
Arts Council of South Africa.

Key unobservable inputs used in the valuation model included estimated Lettable Area (1,645 square metres), and Vacancy 
Rate (3%). A capitalisation rate of 12% was applied based on comparable, observable sales and capitalisation rates for offic-
es in the Johannesburg area, adjusted for the condition and locality of the NAC property, and data from other proprietary 
sources.

The estimated value of the property increased from the previous reporting period.

RECONCILIATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 2019

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Revaluations Depreciation Total

Land 2,254,156 - - (347,135) - 1,907,021
Buildings 6,195,844 - - (1,055,977) (146,887) 4,992,980
Furniture and fixtures 454,821 365,910 - - (128,361) 692,370
Motor vehicles 70,486 - - - (30,208) 40,278
Office equipment 494,006 48,041 - - (150,168) 391,879
Computer equipment 509,260 54,724 (562) - (318,896) 244,526
Paintings 52,270 - - - - 52,270
Photocopiers 397,858 - - - (129,035) 268,823
Banners - 95,427 - - (13,277) 82,150
Digital equipment 5,398 - - - (5,398) -

10,434,099 564,102 (562) (1,403,112) (922,230) 8,672,297

2020 2019
R R

OTHER INFORMATION

Property, plant and equipment fully depreciated and still in use (Initial Cost)
Digital equipment 19,555 -
Office equipment 58,696 78,250
Computer equipment 609,955 90,019
Furniture and fixtures 46,570 -

734,776 168,269
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REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE  

During the 2019/20 financial year, repairs and maintenance cost amounted to R1,717,684 (2019: R544,619).

3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2020 2019
Cost /

Valuation
Accumulated
Amortisation 

and 
Accumulated 
Impairment

Carrying Value Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
Amortisation 

and 
Accumulated 
Impairment

Carrying Value

Computer software 806,165 (638,214) 167,951 806,165 (537,443) 268,722

RECONCILIATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS - 2020

Opening 
Balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 268,722 (100,771) 167,951

RECONCILIATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS - 2019

Opening 
Balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 671,804 (403,082) 268,722

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE

Trade debtors 124,731 41,578

Staff advances 11,572 4,122

Deposits 6,477 6,477

Interest receivable 317,619 58,901

460,399 111,078

2020 2019
R R

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired  

Trade and other receivables which are less than 90 days past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2020, 
receivables amounting to R 8,000 (2019: R 17,930) were past due but not impaired. Amounts more than 90 days past due 
are disclosed in the age analysis of accounts receivable below.

The NAC has not provided for these trade receivables as there has been no significant change in their credit quality and 
the amounts are still considered recoverable.

AGE ANALYSIS OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - 2020

Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days Total

Trade debtors 116,731 - - - 8,000 124,731
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2020 2019
R R

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 6,400 5,000
Cash at Bank - Current Account 931,717 658,995
Cash at Bank - Call Account 63,881,772 42,038,043
Total 64,819,889 42,702,038

Analysis of Bank Accounts

NAC - Petty Cash 6,400 5,000
NAC - Current Account 931,717 538,023
NAC Downtown Studios- Current Account - (68)
NAC - Call Account 63,881,772 42,038,043
Bank Account UNESCO - 121,040
Total 64,819,889 42,702,038

6. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 540,867 118,060
Accrued Medical Aid 124,800 108,123
Accrued 13th Cheque 298,392 313,126
Honoraria 1,308 14,540
Accrued expenses 123,373 563,675

1,088,740 1,117,524

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on a 30-day term.

AGE ANALYSIS OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - 2019

Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days Total

Trade debtors 23,648 - - - 17,930 41,578

AGE ANALYSIS OF TRADE PAYABLES - 2020

Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days Total

Trade payables 513,522 27,345 - - - 540,867

AGE ANALYSIS OF TRADE PAYABLES - 2019

Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days Total

Trade payables 118,060 - - - - 118,060
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A provision for leave is recognised for leave due to employees at period end and calculated using the BCEA rates. The
provision is expected to be realised within the following financial year when the employees utilise the leave, resign or retire. 

“Performance bonus” represents management’s best estimate of the NAC’s liability for staff bonuses. The provision raised 
estimates the amount of the provision based on the anticipated performance of employees. This anticipated performance 
is based on experience with the employees of the NAC, taking into account performance trends in the prior periods.
 
9. PROJECTS AND BURSARIES PAYABLE

Projects and bursary expenditure is a core business of the National Arts Council of South Africa. In the prior periods, the 
National Arts Council recognised the approved funding amounts and related liability after the approval of the projects. 
Subsequent payments were processed through the liability.

In the year under review, only those projects and bursaries that met the criteria of a present obligation are recognised. 

7. DEFERRED GRANT INCOME 2020 2019
R R

Movement during the year
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,489,940 226,489
Add: Income received from DAC - 1,800,000
Less: DAC Capital Works (1,369,128) (536,549)
Less: UNESCO payment (120,812) -
Balance at the end of the year - 1,489,940

8. PROVISIONS

Projects and Bursaries Payable

Opening Balance (34,592,145) (26,219,099)
Net Movement (20,407,575) (8,373,046)

(54,999,720) (34,592,145)

RECONCILIATION OF PROVISIONS - 2020

Opening 
Balance as at 01 

April 2019

Provisions 
Raised

Amounts Used Unused
Amounts 
Reversed

Closing Balance 
as at 31 March 

2020

Leave pay 629,574 162,909 (169,386) - 623,097
Performance bonus 2,396,579 - (402,809) - 1,993,770

3,026,153 162,909 (572,195) - 2,616,867

RECONCILIATION OF PROVISIONS - 2019

Opening 
Balance as at 01 

April 2019

Provisions 
Raised

Amounts Used Unused
Amounts 
Reversed

Closing Balance 
as at 31 March 

2020

Leave pay 594,048 216,861 (181,335) - 629,574
Performance bonus 1,601,981 1,696,560 - (901,962) 2,396,579

2,196,029 1,913,421 (181,335) (901,962) 3,026,153
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10. REVALUATION RESERVE 2020 2019
R R

Opening balance 5,588,990 6,992,103

Change during the year 1,325,929 (1,403,113)

6,914,919 5,588,990

11. OTHER INCOME

UNESCO, workshop refund, insurance claims etc 207,429 15,769

12. INVESTMENT INCOME 

Interest revenue

Bank 2,805,773 1,842,649

13. REVENUE

Other income 207,429 15,769
Interest received - investment 2,805,773 1,842,649
Government grants received 117,182,095 110,276,656

120,195,297 112,135,074

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services are as follows:

Other income 207,429 15,769
Interest received - investment 2,805,773 1,842,649

3,013,202 1,858,418

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:

Department of Arts and Culture - Grant received 117,182,095 110,276,656

14. EMPLOYEE RELATED COSTS

Basic salary 17,786,825 19,047,263
Medical aid - company contributions 1,487,141 1,381,256
Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF) 106,914 106,524
Workers Compensation Assistance (WCA) 46,868 87,766
Leave pay 75,509 110,343
Provident fund 1,516,861 1,357,526
Pension plans 426,403 658,022
Overtime payments 110,355 95,520
Housing benefits and allowances 195,704 186,814

21,752,580 23,031,034
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15. OPERATING EXPENSES

Auditors' fees (External) 908,953 795,206
Auditors' fees (Internal) 331,405 323,641
Bank charges 46,590 38,807
Board Secretariat services 555,935 550,708
Cleaning 209,463 76,990
Consulting fees 528,087 527,133
Expense reimbursements 8,896 10,202
Fuel and oil 28,638 34,798
Insurance 93,290 214,530
Interest paid 2,511 1,384
IT expenses 1,254,252 1,133,050
Legal expenses 228,194 1,387,990
Marketing 1,310,690 1,207,828
Minor assets expense 35,723 110,799
Motor vehicle expenses 324,466 282,428
Office expenses 144,776 100,735
Organisational review 54,509 468,687
Postage and courier 2,615 13,445
Printing and stationery 394,133 297,250
Recruitment costs 53,785 67,617
Remuneration - Council 1,581,408 1,313,894
Repairs and maintenance 1,717,684 544,619
Security 410,196 330,331
Staff training 311,517 331,519
Staff welfare 16,572 5,795
Subscriptions and membership fees 147,696 24,870
Telephone and fax 496,221 485,629
Printer costs - 80,765
Travel and accommodation - Board 870,696 817,247
Travel and accommodation - Staff 92,355 455,906
Venue expenses 249,203 355,193
Water and Electricity 461,940 457,342
Bad debts 9,930 -

12,882,329 12,846,338

2020 2019
R R
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The project costs comprise of ring-fenced money for Orchestras.

16. PROJECT AND BURSARY EXPENSES

Projects 22,441,385 15,764,083
Orchestras 21,583,000 21,583,000
Organisational Support Funding (Company Funding) 22,999,999 23,180,000
Individuals 8,445,184 11,170,784
Bursaries 5,286,452 6,220,480

80,756,020 77,918,347

17. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS

Surplus (deficit) 3,717,898 (2,986,519)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 1,057,168 1,325,312
Disposal of assets 29,302 562
Bad debts 9,930 -
Movements in provisions (409,286) 830,124
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables (349,321) 221,900
Consumer debtors (9,930) -
Trade and other payables (28,784) 47,657
Deferred grant income (1,489,940) 1,263,451
Projects and bursaries payable 20,407,575 8,373,046

22,934,612 9,075,533

18. COMMITMENTS

Not yet contracted for but authorised by Board

RMB Primary Schools Research 270,000 270,000
Research and Database 2,000,000 2,000,000
Capacity Building 2019/20 1,244,728 -
Innovations and Design 2019/20 600,000 -

4,114,728 2,270,000

Projects Approved by DAC

Projects approved by DAC - 1,368,900

Total capital commitments

Not yet contracted for but authorised by Board 4,114,728 2,270,000
Projects - Approved by DAC - 1,368,900
UNESCO - 121,040

4,114,728 3,759,940

2020 2019
R R

The 2019/20 Funding for Capacity Building was earmarked for International Bursaries for the 2020/21 Financial Year. 
The 2019/20 Funding for Innovations and Design was earmarked for 3 Provinces for the 2020/21 Financial Year.

Council resolved that the commitments be re-prioritised and allocated to the Covid-19 relief fund for the 2020/21 financial year.
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19. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Controlling entity      Department of Arts and Culture
Members      Refer to note 20
Members of key management    Refer to note 20

Related party transactions

Amount paid to (received from) related and former related parties

Department of Arts and Culture (117,182,095) (110,276,656)

EXECUTIVE
2020 Basic 

Salary
Salary 

Structure 
- 13th 

Cheque

Travel 
Allowance

Other 
Benefits/

Acting 
Allowance

Perfor-
mance 
Bonus

Total*

Chief Executive Officer* 1,524,068 - 344,540 - 92,406 1,961,014
Chief Financial Officer  
(Resigned 30 April 2019)

105,500 35,167 - 73,027 - 213,694

Acting Chief Financial Officer  
(Started 14 May to 30 September 2019)

- - - 137,893 - 137,893

Chief Financial Officer 
(Started 1 October 2019)

650,000 - - - - 650,000

Acting Arts Development Manager 
(Started 9 September to 30 November 2019)

- - - 105,281 - 105,281

Arts Development Manager 899,422 79,701 - 8,780 - 987,903
Acting Finance Manager 
(Started 14 May to 30 September 2019)

- - - 198,062 - 198,062

Finance Manager 956,469 79,630 - - - 1,036,099
IT Manager 919,299 - - - - 919,299
Communications & Marketing Specialist 
(Resigned 25 May 2019)

122,081 - - 12,310 - 134,391

Communications & Marketing Manager 
(Started 2 September 2019)

420,000 - - - - 420,000

HR Manager 879,367 73,153 - - - 952,520
6,476,206 267,651 344,540 535,353 92,406 7,716,156

20. EMOLUMENTS

2020 2019
R R

*The total remuneration is the cost to company package to the National Arts Council.
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EXECUTIVE
2019 Basic 

Salary
Salary 

Structure 
- 13th 

Cheque

Travel 
Allowance

Other 
Benefits

Total*

Chief Executive Officer 1,476,272 - 344,540 - 1,820,812
Chief Financial Officer  
(1 April 2017 to 30 November 2017)

458,020 - - 2,700 460,720

Chief Financial Officer  
(Appointed 24 January 2018

1,271,042 93,974 - - 1,365,016

Arts Development Manager 1,121,034 87,703 - 10,536 1,219,273
Finance Manager 851,167 - - - 851,167
IT Manager 851,167 - - - 851,167
Communications & Marketing Specialist 800,253 - - - 800,253
Council Secretary 155,055 28,100 - 69,459 252,614
Project Manager in CEO's Office 834,960 65,284 - - 900,244

7,818,970 275,061 344,540 82,695 8,521,266

NON-EXECUTIVE - COUNCIL MEMBERS
2020 Council Other Fees

Mr Hartley Ngoato (Chairperson) 97,200 97,200
Ms Avril Joffe 28,584 43,023
Ms Erica Elk 42,876 40,494
Ms Nakedi Ribane 54,786 61,932
Mr Michael Arendse 59,550 54,786
Dr Same Mdluli 33,348 19,056
Mr Zolani Mkiva 4,764 4,764
Mr Masengana Mabuza 59,550 30,966
Ms Thokozile Nogabe 38,112 52,404
Prof Sekgothe Mokgoatšana 59,550 71,460
Mr Edmund Mhlongo 28,584 -
Ms Mandie Van Der Spuy 38,112 59,550
Ms Maleshini Naidoo 28,584 7,857
Mr John Raphela (External member) - 2,619
Mr Sikuthali Nyangintsimbi (External member) - 5,238
Ms Charlene Louw (External member) - 5,001
Mr Phumlani Manzi 50,022 26,202
Mr Johane Chisekula 50,022 30,966
Ms Madre Loubser 54,786 14,292
Mr Dennis Sithole 42,876 19,056
Mr Lufuno Motsherane (External member) - 11,910

771,306 658,776
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Other fees include sub-committee meeting fees, workshops and other meetings.  

Council members are remunerated in line with Treasury Guidelines  

Ms Jabu Dlamini does not get remunerated as she is employed by the Provincial Government of Mpumalanga. 

Ms Madre Loubser was appointed on 23 April 2019.

Mr Zolani Mkiva resigned on 28 May 2019

Mr Pheni Ngove resigned in 2019

Mr Bongani Mavuso resigned on 27 June 2019.

NON-EXECUTIVE - COUNCIL MEMBERS
2019 Council Other Fees

Mr Hartley Ngoato (Chairperson) 76,345 111,768
Ms Avril Joffe 45,509 9,280
Ms Erica Elk 50,273 6,898
Ms Nakedi Ribane 80,990 7,146
Mr Michael Arendse 90,767 21,190
Dr Same Mdluli 54,788 2,382
Mr Zolani Mkiva 23,821 2,382
Mr Phumzile Apleni 64,565 11,662
Mr Masengana Mabuza 55,161 9,156
Ms Thokozile Nogabe 71,587 7,022
Ms Thandiwe Profit-Mclean 28,834 4,516
Mr Bongani Mavuso 23,822 2,382
Prof Sekgothe Mokgoatšana 64,565 6,898
Mr Edmund Mhlongo 21,439 -
Ms Mandie Van Der Spuy 52,405 4,764
Mr Pheni Ngove 4,764 -
Ms Maleshini Naidoo 26,203 2,382
Mr Phumlani Manzi 9,528 -
Mr Johane Chisekula 9,528 -

854,894 209,828

Other fees include sub-committee meeting fees, workshops and other meetings.    

Ms Thandiwe Profit-Mclean resigned in December 2018 & Mr Phumzile Apleni resigned on the 18th of March 2019.

Mr Johane Chisekula  was appointed on 20 February 2019.

Mr Phumlani Manzi was appointed on 12 November 2018. 

Mr Dennis Sithole was appointed on 22 November 2018.

Council members are remunerated in line with Treasury Guidelines.
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Non-executive - Panel Members
In terms of the National Arts Council Act, the Council may establish an advisory panel for every field of the arts it deems 
necessary. Membership of each advisory panel consists of persons who have achieved distinction or have special knowledge or 
experience in the field of the arts in question, and who are not members of the Council. The advisory panels advise the Council 
on the merits of applications for grants and on any matter relating to the field of the arts for which they were appointed.

NON-EXECUTIVE - PANEL MEMBERS 2020 
Remuneration

2019 
Remuneration

Ms Carol Brown 25,354 25,354
Ms Georgina Thompson 16,902 25,354
Mr Kingdom Moshounyane 25,354 25,354
Mr Trevor Mokeyane 25,354 25,354
Mr Arthur Zitha 38,030 38,030
Mr Thando Mgqolozana - 8,451
Mr Zothani Vilakazi 38,030 54,933
Mr Fhumulani Kenneth Mathiva 29,579 29,579
Mr Theo Lawrence 42,256 33,805
Mr Njabulo Mkhondo 42,256 33,805
Mr Papama Mnqadi 42,256 29,579
Dr Conroy Cupido 16,902 29,579
Ms Busisiwe Sikhonde 29,579 42,256
Mr Piet Masilela - 42,226
Ms Celeste Wannenburg 21,130 42,256
Mr Tsietsi Mohapi 29,579 42,256
Mr Njabulo Sifiso Mthimkulu 50,707 33,805
Mr Themba Sweetbirth Luthuli 50,707 338
Ms Smay Kearabilwe Malao 50,707 33,805
Ms Moleboheng Mokomele 50,707 33,805

625,389 629,924

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS 2020 
Emoluments

2019 
Emoluments

Ms Avril Joffe (Chairperson) 51,804 95,122
Ms Maleshini Naidoo 26,190 40,712
Mr Sikuthali Nyangintsimbi (External Audit Committee member) 20,952 56,907
Mr John Raphela (External Audit Committee member) 26,190 35,478
Ms Charlene Louw (External Audit Committee member) 26,190 20,952

151,326 249,171

Some of the members of the Audit & Risk Committee are also members of the Council. Their remuneration in their 
capacity as council members is disclosed under “Non-executive - council members” (Above).

*Some members of the Audit and Risk Committee are also members of the Council. Their remuneration in their capacity 
as council members is disclosed under “Non executive - Council members” (above).
** Ms Charlene Louw was appointed as an External Audit Committee Member on the 19th of October 2018.
*** Mr Sikuthali Nyangintsimbi represented ARC at a Council meeting on the 17th of August 2018.

Audit Committee members have also attended a Public Protector meeting held on the 31st of January 2019.
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Expenditure relating to operating expenses exceeded the budget for the year.  

The closing balance for irregular expenditure includes items inherited from prior years, the first of which was recorded 
in the 2009 financial year at R7,509,560. The amount further increased  by  R17,402,941 in the 2010-2014 financial years 
to R24,912,501. An investigation was concluded, and the relevant documentation submitted to National Treasury for 
condonement.

21. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Opening balance 27,177,270 27,177,270
Add: Irregular Expenditure - incurred in current year 11,938,240 -
Add: Irregular Expenditure - incurred in prior year but identified in current year 18,519,880 -
Less: Irregular expenditure written off - -
Less: Irregular expenditure recovered - -
Less: Irregular expenditure condoned - -

57,635,390 27,177,270

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Prior years 27,177,270 27,177,270

22. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Incident

During the financial year management discovered fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure in the form of interest on late payments.

- 2,511

- 2,511

23. GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2020, the entity had accumulated a surplus of R9,657,279 and that the 
entity’s total assets exceed its liabilities by R16,572,198.

The audited annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets 
and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The accumulated surplus of R 9,657,279 includes projects contracted but not fully paid and projects approved by Council 
but not contracted. The National Arts Council submitted the request to National Treasury to retain the surplus.

2020 2019
R R

The Irregular Expenditure relates to the expenditure disbursed to orchestras on behalf of the Department of Arts and 
Culture (DAC). The National Arts Council is directed by DAC to make these funding disbursements, ring-fenced under the 
heading of orchestra funds, for the 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 financial years. 
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25. RISK MANAGEMENT

LIQUIDITY RISK
The National Arts Council of South Africa manages liquidity through the management of working capital, capital 
expenditure and cash flow and by variance reports between actual and budget items.

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 INTEREST 
RATE % YEAR 1 YEAR 1 - 5 OVER 5 

YEARS
Trade and other payables Interest free - - -

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 INTEREST 
RATE % YEAR 1 YEAR 1 - 5 OVER 5 

YEARS
Trade and other payables Interest free 1,489,940 - -

Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents 64,819,889 42,702,038
Trade and other receivables 460,399 111,078
Trade and other Payables (1,088,740) (1,117,524)

64,191,548 41,695,592

As at 31 March 2020 the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables approximate their fair 
values due to the short term maturities of these assets and liabilities as disclosed above

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of economic loss should any of NAC’s clients or market counterparties fail to fulfill their contractual 
obligations.

Financial assets, which potentially subject the entity to the risk of non-performance by counter parties and thereby 
subjecting it to credit concentrations of credit risk, consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, investments and 
accounts receivable.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade receivables. The entity managed to limit its 
exposure  by only dealing with well-established financial institutions, approved by the National Treasury. The entity’s 
exposure is continuously monitored by the Accounting Authority. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

2020 2019
R R

24. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The Board of the National Arts Council (NAC) has resolved to provide relief funding to beneficiaries of the 2019/2020 
funding cycle within the 2019/20 financial year. An amount of R4,217,813 from the 2020/21 budget has been reprioritised to 
Covid relief funding. A further R12,352,406 from cash reserves has also been redirected to Covid relief.

The project funding cycle in the 2020/21 financial year will be awarded on the basis of compliance to Covid-19 legislation.

The NAC, as a schedule 3A national public entity of the Department of Arts and Culture, will continue as a going concern 
to fulfil its mandate in the 2020/21 financial year.
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LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in  
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

OTHER PRICE RISK
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are 
caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.

2020 Change in 
Investment

Upward 
Change

Downward 
Change

Cash and cash equivalents 1% 724,259 655,137

2019 Change in 
Investment

Upward 
Change

Downward 
Change

Cash and cash equivalents 1% 384,894 (166,844)
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ANNEXURE A
NAC GRANT 

BENEFICIARIES 2019/20

Jordan Mixson
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ARTS PLATFORMS, SHOWCASES, EXHIBITIONS AND FESTIVALS APPROVED BENEFICIARIES OF 2019-20

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1466301 Luci Fernandes-Stangl Gauteng  47 000,00 

1838401 Jan Mthethwa Free State 50 000,00 

1488401 Letlhogonolo Innocentia Riba Gauteng 50 000,00 

1472301 Rae' Classen Western Cape 50 000,00 

1741501 Nombango Anna Radebe Free State 80 000,00 

1371601 Nicolaas Johannes Luwes Free State 50 000,00 

1702101 Kristi-Leigh Gresse KwaZulu-Natal 50 000,00 

1375701 Tshediso Elijah Kabulu Free State 50 000,00 

1968101 Mercia Khukhwane Wechoemang Northern Cape 100 000,00 

1978601 Wendile Glenrose Mthembu KwaZulu-Natal 80 000,00 

1890901 Jabulani Goodlord Zulu Gauteng 90 000,00 

1750801 Mbuyiselo Nqodi Free State 50 000,00 

1892301 Johanna Matshuene & Malebo Mothema Limpopo 60 000,00 

1712301 Boitumelo Mkhondo Limpopo 40 000,00 

1867801 Simphiwe Sizakele Mdi Free State 50 000,00 

1373701 Danieyella Rodin Gauteng 50 000,00 

1530601 Nonkosi Innocentia Sokoyi Free State 90 000,00 

1422301 Maleshoane Precilla Mphutlane Free State 50 000,00 

1774201 Puleng Adeline Phalole Free State 25 300,00 

1595901 Nzame Ntando Mbangwa Eastern Cape 50 000,00 

1620701 Arnold Kagisho Matthews Northern Cape 100 000,00 

1768201 Carin Bester Western Cape 36 000,00 

1824001 Tracey Derrick Western Cape 50 000,00 

1744601 Douglas Dithlake Tsimane North West 100 000,00 

1971701 Mokhudutswane Arcia Dinah  Mnumzana Free State 83 244,00 

1675601 Laura Kirsten Gauteng 23 400,00 

2051201 Akhona  Mpendu Eastern Cape 100 000,00 

1924001 Siphokazi Nondumiso Ntintili Gauteng 60 000,00 

1598601 Mmusi Kabelo Fabius Morekhure Gauteng 80 000,00 

1664801 Mandy Johnston & Gaogelo Mashilo Western Cape 100 000,00 

1664401 Bonolo Rachael Nteo Northern Cape 100 000,00 

Total Approved R1 994 944,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1344301 Amisile Media PTY (Ltd) Eastern Cape 100 000,00 

1658801 Medumo Creative Artists North West 130 000,00 

1705501 Sunrise Films and Creative Arts Academy KwaZulu-Natal 100 000,00 

1525801 Angel Foundation Free State 80 000,00 

1663401 Concordia Arts and Culture Association Northern Cape 100 000,00 

1343301 Diepsloot Youth in Action Gauteng 80 000,00 

1640801 Ngwao Ya Batswana North West 120 000,00 

1968501 Gert Sibande Arts Festival Mpumalanga 100 000,00 

1460701 Gitja Cultural Show and Community Uplifting Project Mpumalanga 100 000,00 

1451801 Limpopo Young Leadership Development Foundation Limpopo 100 000,00 

1367601 Reclaiming Children and Youth Agency for Development Free State 80 000,00 

1819001 Kwantu Traditional Festival Eastern Cape 150 000,00 

1755401 Kgabo Tona Entertainment and Projects Mpumalanga 100 000,00 

1431401 Mascots and Kids Limpopo 100 000,00 

1389801 My African Wonderland North West 100 000,00 

1902001 Poetic BluesSun Peo PTY (Ltd) Free State 50 000,00 

1433901 Mzansi Arts Development Ensemble KwaZulu-Natal 90 000,00 

1953501 Alexandra Arts Academy Gauteng 100 000,00 

1887101 Flip N Flap  Limpopo 120 000,00 

1907901 Big R Group  Free State 50 000,00 

1725801 Street Pop Industry PTY (LTD) Gauteng 100 000,00 

1365701 Moitshepi Holding Pty (Ltd) Northern Cape 150 000,00 

1375601 The Zama Dance Trust School Western Cape 100 000,00 

1756901 Breaking Boxes Gauteng 100 000,00 

1821201 The Darling Festival Trust Western Cape 100 000,00 

1326801 Thabile Buthelezi Foundation NPC KwaZulu-Natal 100 000,00 

1410101 Women In Music NPC Gauteng 100 000,00 

1411601 Emakhuzeni Cultural Music Organisation KwaZulu-Natal 100 000,00 

1688501 Micromega Publications PTY (Ltd) KwaZulu-Natal 80 000,00 

1889201  Rhythm of Laughter Mpumalanga 150 000,00 

1888001 Shiluba North West 100 000,00 

1658001 Human Resources and Socal Information Limpopo 100 000,00 

Total Approved R3 230 000,00

Total Approved 
to Programme R5 224 944,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1334801 Free State Dance Theatre Free State 120 000,00 

1355101 Peo Entle Productions PTY North West 100 000,00 

1393801 Zwelethu Dance Academy Gauteng 100 000,00 

1414501 Education Africa Gauteng 110 000,00 

1481001 Siyavuka Lateral Improvement Foundation Gauteng 150 000,00 

1501501 Sibikwa Arts Centre Gauteng 150 000,00 

1507701 Raaswater Community Craft Development (PTY) Ltd Northern Cape 100 000,00 

1558201 Izango Arts Trust Eastern-Cape 150 000,00 

1593201 Senzokuhle Youth Development Project NPO KwaZulu-Natal 120 000,00 

1610401 Thabangaye Pty Ltd KwaZulu-Natal 150 000,00 

1660101 Ithemba Lomphakathi Community Project Mpumalanga 150 000,00 

1687201 Light of Nation Youth Projects Gauteng 200 000,00 

1690601 Vusasizwe Music Academy Mpumalanga 150 000,00 

1766201 Zikulise Community Upliftment Project NPC KwaZulu-Natal 150 000,00 

1774401 Flaatfoot Dance Company KwaZulu-Natal 150 000,00 

1784301 Fani Reuben Mpangane Mpumalanga 150 000,00 

1794501 Wesland Arts Association Western Cape 100 000,00 

1840801 Incopho Development Project Eastern Cape 120 000,00 

CAPACITY BUILDING APPROVED BENEFICIARIES OF 2019-20 

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1424001 Hazel Thembeka Ndlovu KwaZulu-Natal 128 704,25 

1467501 Nelsie Ndimande Gauteng 100 000,00 

1480801 Molelle Zakaria Lethoba Free State 150 000,00 

1578101 Amogelang Mokonoto North West 135 000,00 

1614301 Victor Geduldt Free State 150 000,00 

1673601 Kataki Hendrick Thoka Gauteng 100 000,00 

1750701 Steven Mabona Gauteng 200 000,00 

1950701 Petros Lephako Gauteng 100 000,00 

1671101 Kara Schoeman Free State 125 000,00 

1843501 Bonginkosi Nxumalo KwaZulu-Natal   71 295,75 

Total Approved R1 260 000,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2121301 Zimkhitha Mpanzela Eastern Cape 85 224,00

2172801 Asipezi Jita Eastern Cape 85 224,00

2172101 Marc Smith Western Cape 32 000,00

2142401 Manoko Tlhako Limpopo 30 000,00

2139501 Thembelihle Dunjana Western Cape 92 950,00

2111401 Ronald Kasebidile North West 56 000,00

2141301 Zizicelo Sifumba Free State 38 000,00

2171501 Lindani Phumlomo KwaZulu-Natal 47 000,00

2194401 Wendy Williams Eastern Cape 68 826,00

2174801 Pumelela Sibahle Nyiki Eastern Cape 59 227,00

2215901 Thapelo Mabona Northern Cape 43 000,00

2143401 Oliver Bonga Eastern Cape 71 980,00

2178601 Jolene Swartz Free State 34 150,00

2214101 Hester Maree Free State 35 000,00

2209901 Vuyiswa Mxasa Free State 34 525,00

2124401 Irma Viviers Free State 35 000,00

2200201 Wilna Combrinck Gauteng 72 000,00

FUNDING 
NUMBER ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1852701 Kimberley Academic of Music Northern Cape 200 000,00 

1855701 Sekunjalo Theatre Vibrant Mpumalanga 100 000,00 

1947701 Wushini Arts Centre KwaZulu-Natal 200 000,00 

1951201 Endumbeni Cultural & Creative Arts Centre Mpumalanga 150 000,00 

1975201 Charismatic Rhythms Community Arts Hub Limpopo 150 000,00 

1871901 Kronendal Music Academy of Hout Bay Western Cape 100 000,00 

1824501 Nnkgo Ya Metsi Lodestar Training Gauteng 100 000,00 

1772401 Directors Training and Presentation Mpumalanga 124 000,00 

1665001 Working together to do more crafters Mpumalanga 100 000,00 

1523301 Thelisile Community Art Project KwaZulu-Natal 100 000,00 

1449001 Carinus Art Centre Eastern Cape 100 000,00 

1339301 Twist Theatre Development Project KwaZulu-Natal 120 944,00 

Total Approved R3 964 944,00

INDIVIDUAL BURSARIES
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2179701 Athenkosi Kwinana Eastern Cape 40 730,00

2173601 Dahlia Maubane North West 28 000,00

2217801 Sibusiso Mashiloane Mpumalanga 44 000,00

2186401 Motlatjo Ntatamala Limpopo 34 310,00

2159601 Sjane Colin Gauteng 18 000,00

2158401 Viola Greyling Gauteng 33 695,00

2109401 Cassius Davids Northern Cape 26 120,00

2119301 Bhavisha L Panchia Gauteng 25 000,00

2168201 Toby Ngomane Mpumalanga 56 000,00

2165701 Cebisa Zono Eastern Cape 33 000,00

2191501 Jade Le Roux KwaZulu-Natal 29 000,00

2153801 Axl Forder KwaZulu-Natal 24 002,00

2120801 Athenkosi Nelani Eastern Cape 26 500,00

2160701 Bessie A Gabashane Gauteng 69 250,00

2116801 Ulagh Williams Eastern Cape 35 976,00

2124301 Luche Oberholzer Western Cape 32 350,00

2201001 Nastassja Pretorius Western Cape 54 000,00

2195401 Alexandra Beaven Western Cape 20 000,00

2169301 Maia Lehr-Sacks Gauteng 22 000,00

2198801 Tumelo Kope-Baloyi Gauteng 35 540,00

2148801 Mignon Mayhew Gauteng 33 000,00

2143601 Kealeboga Tshenye Gauteng 30 000,00

2190001 Duduzile Mathebula Gauteng 40 000,00

2188301 Victoria Moleko Gauteng 22 330,00

2159101 Ivy Rihlampfu Gauteng 20 790,00

2131901 Gomolemo Sefotlhelo North West 27 000,00

2114401 Pholile Hlongwane KwaZulu-Natal 33 000,00

2182401 Vuyolwethu Madyibi Eastern Cape 94 000,00

2194901 Phindile Suntsha Gauteng 63 000,00

2223701 Khanyisa Sigwanda Eastern Cape 55 000,00

2186701 Jarred Thompson Gauteng 39 710,00

2189201 Muhammad Dawjee Gauteng 47 241,00

2178001 Yonela Ngoni Eastern Cape 74 745,00

2213701 Nonkululeko Vilakazi Gauteng 63 000,00

2215001 Sive Mxokozeli Eastern Cape 34 000,00

2187901 Nondumiso Gumbi Gauteng 76 228,00

2141901 Pillay Anusia KwaZulu-Natal 24 580,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2142501 Edward Phiri Gauteng 49 000,00

2168901 Denay Willie Western Cape 47 000,00

2225601 Sanelisiwe Dlamini KwaZulu-Natal 74 000,00

2199201 Kamogelo Walaza Free State 75 745,00

2183101 Relebohile Mabunda Gauteng 29 000,00

2219701 Lunga Khuhlane Gauteng 29 000,00

2203301 Zakhele Ndlovu KwaZulu-Natal 40 000,00

2143001 Phumelele Mzimela KwaZulu-Natal 35 000,00

2183701 Xhanti Zwelendaba Eastern Cape 46 000,00

2172301 Muvo Hlongwana KwaZulu-Natal 50 000,00

2111001 Mahlubandile Nontlanga Eastern Cape 42 000,00

2143101 Ntombifuthi Nkuna Gauteng 49 000,00

2222801 Masechaba Phakela Gauteng 50 000,00

2219501 Kgomotso S Moshugi Gauteng 26 000,00

2125101 Hector Kunene Gauteng 43 000,00

2172601 Mbali Sibiya KwaZulu-Natal 67 504,45

2107101 Simangaliso Thango KwaZulu-Natal 55 000,00

Total Approved R3 192 452,00

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2105901 The Forgotten Angle Theatre Collaborative Mpumalanga 240 000,00

2106401 Nelson Mandela University Eastern Cape 120 000,00

2121101 Magnet Training and Youth Upliftment Trust Western Cape 150 000,00

2123201 Emendy (PTY) LTD Gauteng 175 000,00

2140201 Academy of Sound Engineering Gauteng 153 000,00

2145201 AFDA Port Elizabeth Eastern Cape 250 000,00

2160101 University of Cape Town Western Cape 200 000,00

2164101 Ruth Prowse School of Art NPC Western Cape 100 000,00

BLOCK BURSARIES
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2177701 Sibikwa Community Project / Sibikwa Arts Centre Gauteng 192 000,00

2184901 NWU School of Music & Conservatory North West 180 000,00

2187501 Artist Proof Studio Gauteng 150 000,00

2206901 Durban University of Technology KwaZulu-Natal 104 000,00

2226001 Oakfields College Gauteng 80 000,00

Total Approved R2 094 000,00

Total Approved 
to Programme R10 511 396,00

FUNDING 
NUMBER

ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 
AMOUNT

18938/01 Crows Nest Productions Lady Day Big Band Western Cape R 200 149,60

18329/01   Marimba Jam Festival Western Cape R 180 000,00

18209/01 Xitsonga Writers and Language Association Mpumalanga R 140 000,00

15530/01 Umehluko Events and Entertainment (PTY) LTD KwaZulu-Natal R 300 000,00  

 14117/01 Tlou Ya Mmogo  O Moso Limpopo R 200 000,00

15196/01 Archtype Free State R 200 000,00

16459/01 Soul Truth Music CC Gauteng R 207 305,00

17311/01 Penryn Trust Mpumalanga R 150 000,00

17416/01  Dannhauser Active Rural Women Ensemble KwaZulu-Natal R 110 000,00

13603/01 Masbonisaneni Sonke Trading and Projects Mpumalanga R 199 050,00

17691/01 Itekeng Regeneration Project Free State R 100 000,00

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

19335/01 Monnapule Mangasanja Northern Cape R 190 000,00

19222/01 Tiisetso Kgokong North West R 200 000,00

18931/01 Allan C Horwitz Gauteng R 100 000,00

18930/01 Janine Titus Northern Cape R 250 489,40

18436/01 Sipho Manzini Gauteng R 180 000,00

14277/01 Solly Malaks Limpopo R 190 000,00

17179/01 Sekgomotso S Modise North West R 150 000,00

Total Approved R 1 260 489,40

SOCIAL COHESION AND NATION BUILDING APPROVED BENEFICIARIES OF 2019-20
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FUNDING 
NUMBER

ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 
AMOUNT

17833/01 African Footprints of Hope Organization Eastern Cape R 302 000,00

17890/01 Pietermaritzburg Amateur Music Society KwaZulu-Natal R 180 000,00

14665/01 Izigi Performing Arts Mpumalanga R 302 000,00

19442/01 On Time Projects Eastern Cape R 201 000,00

14246/01 Seulaula SA Publishing and Production Eastern Cape R 120 000,00

13807/01 Moving into Dance Gauteng R 180 000,00

19425/01 Masetsebane Productions (Pty) Ltd Limpopo R 130 000,00

17048/01 Tola World Gauteng R 203 000,00

19746/01 Aletta Motimele Publishers Limpopo R 180 000,00

13853/01 Lentswe Arts Projects North West R180 000,00

Total Approved R3 964 504,60

Total Approved 
to Programme R5 224 994,00

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES APPROVED BENEFICIARIES OF 2019-20

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1603901 Chumani Mtshixa Eastern Cape 269 944,00 

1413601 Ishmael Sibiya Gauteng 150 000,00 

1499901 Jefferson Dirks-Korkee Free State 300 000,00 

1565001 Lebogang Lance Nawa Gauteng 200 000,00 

1948601 Nicola Elliot Western Cape   20 000,00 

1901101 Rudzani Khashane Limpopo 100 000,00 

1413901 Mandla Qwabe Mpumalanga 100 000,00 

1573301 Thato Ditlhale North West 300 000,00 

1443101 Zwai Mgijima Eastern Cape 200 000,00 

Total Approved R1 639 944,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1924301 Bele Production and Services Gauteng R250 000,00

1805901 District Six Museum Western Cape R250 000,00

1335901 Family Literacy Project KwaZulu-Natal R500 000,00

1700701 Mazwai Strategic Communications Eastern Cape R500 000,00

1837001 Phinda-Mzala Entertainment Gauteng R200 000,00

1372701 Skomplazi Art Development KwaZulu-Natal R200 000,00

1518401 Unmute Dance Theatre Western Cape R450 000,00

1456501 UPT Youth Development NPC Northern Cape R425 000,00

1530801 Born to Prosper Community Free State R260 000,00

1480601 Jakes Gerwel Western Cape R350 000,00

1506001 Fundza Literary Project Western Cape R200 000,00

Total Approved R3 585 000,00

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

SSI-01 Thembelani Drama Group Eastern Cape 150 000,00 

SSI-02 Theatre of Excellence Limpopo 100 000,00 

SSI-04 Ladimash Production Limpopo 106 141,00 

SSI-05 Bangwanate Disabled Project Limpopo 100 000,00 

SSI-06 Patriots Dance Theatre Free State 100 000,00 

SSI-07 BOABAB Entertainment Free State 150 000,00 

SSI-010 Free State Performing Arts and Transport for People Living with Disabilities Free State 150 000,00 

SSI-12 Galeshewe Theatre Organisation (GATO) Northern Cape 125 000,00 

SSI-014 Amandla Dança Teatro ZA Northern Cape 125 000,00 

SSI-015 Sisonke Performing Arts Northern Cape 100 000,00 

SSI-016 Bothakga Dirang NPC North West 120 000,00 

SSI-018 Lekgoledi Arts and Culture Centre North West 100 000,00 

SSI-019 Kopano Kematla North West 100 000,00 

SSI-023 Mpumalanga Choral Music Association Mpumalanga 200 000,00 

SSI-025 Mbali Enhle Community Project Eastern Cape 150 000,00 

SSI-026 Matimande Development Cooperative Mpumalanga 150 000,00 

Total Approved R2 026 141,00

Total Approved 
to Programme R7 251 085,00

CLOSED CALL 
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1435101 Mqedi Elliot Mkhize KwaZulu-Natal R71 500,00

1601401 Kholisile Theo Ndindwa Western Cape R100 000,00

1639701 Thomas Musubi Limpopo R152 950,00

1668701 Mxolisi Veli Mkhonto Mpumalanga R102 844,00

1697501  Bhekani PB Gumede Gauteng R50 000,00

1720401 Billy Monama Gauteng R100 000,00

1746501 Vusumuzi Michael Mbata KwaZulu-Natal R100 000,00

1764101 Nomthandazo Swaartbooi Western Cape R100 000,00

1781401 Dr Brown Bavusile Maaba Gauteng R100 000,00

1844201 Nkosikhona Bethuel Tembe KwaZulu-Natal R205 500,00

1856201 Janni Younge Western Cape R100 000,00

1867301 Yoliswa Mbobisa Gauteng R43 000,00

1871201 Nthame Hellen Madihlaba Limpopo R82 500,00

1872201 Johannah Mosenagabo Tlooke Limpopo R161 300,00

1880301 Steve Dyer Gauteng R100 000,00

1881401 Lizwilenkosi Comfort Khumalo KwaZulu-Natal R72 750,20

1891601 Siyabonga Sikhosana KwaZulu-Natal R35 000,00

1897001 Zibuyile Grace Gumbi KwaZulu-Natal R73 087,50

1922801 Unathi Magubeni Eastern Cape R28 000,00

1340901 Makonyololo Dannis Limpopo R95 000,00

1398901 Mmatjie Makgopa Limpopo R100 000,00

1443901 Tshegofatso seoco Marogoa Free State R120 000,00

1888701 Sekweng Florence Madihlaba Limpopo R53 600,00

1661501 Eve Bodirwa Limpopo R50 000,00

1862901 Boitumelo Khumalo Free State R62 775,00

1880201 Itumeleng Moamogwa Free State R30 000,00

Total Approved R2 289 806,70

INNOVATION, DESIGN AND CREATION APPROVED BENEFICIARIES OF 2019-20
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FUNDING 
NUMBER ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

1895801 Action in Autism KwaZulu-Natal R 75 000,00

1894201 Raentsho Arts Education Ensemble North West R 320 850,00

1885801 Artwork for Art NPC (AMP) Eastern Cape R 419 108,58

1708901 Dog Leg Productions (PTY) LTD North West R237 500,00

1679001 Ubuciko bamaciko development KwaZulu-Natal R 100 000,00

1653301 John N Petro Creative Enterprise Gauteng R 100 000,00

1611401 Enziwe Enterprises KwaZulu-Natal R 105 000,00

1415801 Cape Town Opera Western Cape R 50 000,00

1423201 Ubuciko Bemvelo Art and Craft Co-operative Limited KwaZulu-Natal R 88 000,00

1748501 Mdeni Ka Frances Creche NPO KwaZulu-Natal R 40 000,00

1754301 Hamyo Drop in Centre NPO KwaZulu-Natal R 40 000,00

1918301 Nshalati Business Enterprise Limpopo R151 250,00

17141001 Mamokgadi Pottery Primary Co-operative Limited Limpopo R92 336,00

1524101 Die Stigting vir Bemagtiging deur Afrikaans Western Cape R 66 362,72

1395001 Nceduluntu Wesley Community Project Eastern Cape R 149 730,00

1760401 Table Mount Trading Enterprise North West R 300 000,00

Total Approved R2 335 137,00

Total Approved 
to Programme R4 624 944,00

ARTS ORGANISATION SUPPORT FUNDING APPROVED BENEFICIARIES OF 2019-20

FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2088401 Africa South Art Initiative Western Cape 500 000,00

2229401 Afrosue Education Arts Ensemble North West 300 000,00

2009401 Arts & Print Media Development Centre Eastern Cape 300 000,00

2081901 Arts Scene Foundation Northern Cape 250 000,00

2062301 Awesome SA Raise Your Voice Foundation KwaZulu-Natal 300 000,00

2088301 Becomo Art Centre Gauteng 300 000,00

2033801 Big R Group Free State 300 000,00

2231001 Bogaetsu Trading PTY LTD Northern Cape 250 000,00

2026601 Bold Moves 198 Pty Ltd Free State 500 000,00

2010801 Buzwe Bethu Trading and Construction Projects Eastern Cape 400 000,00

2133001 Community Art Service North West 300 000,00

1997601 Duncan Village Youth Developmental Initiative Eastern Cape 300 000,00

2053701 East London Guild Theatre NPC Eastern Cape 400 000,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2232101 Eyethu Theatre Production KwaZulu-Natal 300 000,00

2052901 Free State Wombman in Theatre Free State 300 000,00

2007801 Garage Dance Ensemble Northern Cape 400 000,00

2062901 Heal the hood Project Western Cape 300 000,00

2087201 Impophoma Youth Production Gauteng 300 000,00

2072801 INFINI3 Free State 300 000,00

2066401 International Library of African Music (ILAM), Rhodes University Eastern Cape 400 000,00

2043501 Intlantsi Creative Development Project Eastern Cape 300 000,00

2230601 Ipopeng Basadi co-operative Limited North West 150 000,00

2063101 Isiko Foundation NPC Limpopo 500 000,00

2068901 Jazzy Masala Creative Gauteng 300 000,00

2070701 Keep The Dream 343 Gauteng 300 000,00

2030501 Keiskamma Trust Eastern Cape 400 000,00

2001501 Khwela Theatre Production Gauteng 300 000,00

2045001 King Steve Productions Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2027501 Legacy Kiddies Village NPC Free State 300 000,00

2042601 Lentswe Arts Projects North West 300 000,00

2041701 Lesedi African Theatre Production
North West 
(project hosted in 
Northern Cape)

300 000,00

2102701 Lihlikhono Community Organisation KwaZulu-Natal 150 000,00

2015101 Limpopo Arts and Culture Youth Forum Limpopo 300 000,00

2094601 Limpopo Faces Limpopo 300 000,00

2050901 Lucky Dance Theatre Gauteng 300 000,00

1999801 Mahikeng Writing and Research Academy North West 300 000,00

1995701 Maison De La Dance Project Gauteng 300 000,00

1990101 Makhaya Bushmen Ceramics Gauteng 300 000,00

2058701 Mangaung Drama & Dance Group (MDG) Free State 200 000,00

2009701 Maqhawe Theatre Group Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2018701 Marimba Education Foundation Western Cape 500 000,00

2228401 Maruleng Youth Development Centre Limpopo 300 000,00

2036601 Masifunde Learner Development Eastern Cape 300 000,00

2046901 Masihlangane Productions PTY (LTD) Northern Cape 300 000,00

1998201 Mavuyisi Creative Projects Limpopo 300 000,00

2015501 Modern Art Projects South Africa Northern Cape 250 000,00

2039301 Molete Nare Music Arts and Culture NPC North West 300 000,00

2063401 Music Academy of Gauteng Gauteng 400 000,00

2066501 Musiquelaine SA Western Cape 300 000,00

2009501 Nebulae Productions CC Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2062701 Newcastle Arts Development Organisation KwaZulu-Natal 400 000,00
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FUNDING 
NUMBER BENEFICIARY NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

2079401 Omama Besxaxa Foundation Gauteng 300 000,00

2054801 Phalafala Ya Bongwadi Limpopo 300 000,00

2054401 Raemat Kreations Limpopo 300 000,00

2095101 Reclaiming Children and Youth Agency For Development Free State 300 000,00

2230001 Rhythmic Indigenous Dancers Organisation Free State 300 000,00

2091501 Rush Contemporary Theatre Company North West 300 000,00

2048901 SLED - Sign Language Education and Development Western Cape 500 000,00

1999701 Southern African San Development Organisation (SASDO) Northern Cape 250 000,00

2019301 The Foundation M (NPC) North West 150 000,00

2056701 The Wentworth Arts and Culture Organisation KwaZulu-Natal 300 000,00

2001701 Themba Phoenix Artist Management Gauteng 300 000,00

2088201 Unity and Cultural Diversity Council Limpopo 300 000,00

2021001 Wall of Arts Trading Pty (Ltd) Northern Cape 300 000,00

2230701 Youth in Action Arts Centre Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2093801 Zimiseleni Projects Mpumalanga 500 000,00

1997801 ZTK Music Entertainment NPC Northern Cape 300 000,00

2061801 ZuluGal Retro KwaZulu-Natal 300 000,00

2007601 East City Talent House Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2008301 Ligchabo Lesive Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2007901 Mbombela Arts Movement Mpumalanga 300 000,00

2230001 MemelRhythmic Indigenous Dancers Organisation Free State 300 000,00

2102401 Youth in Action Production Kwazulu Natal 250 000,00

Total Approved R23 000 000,00

Total Approved 
to Programme R23 000 000,00

ORCHESTRA FUNDING APPROVED ORGANISATIONS OF 2019-20

FUNDING 
NUMBER ORGANISATION NAME PROVINCE APPROVED 

AMOUNT

MR0120 KZN Philharmonic Orchestra KwaZulu-Natal  4,120,000 

MR0220 Cape Town Philharmonica Orchestra Western Cape  2,948,400 

MR0320 Johannesburg Philharmonic Orchestra Gauteng  3,000,000 

Total Approved  10,068,400 
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ANNEXURE B
COUNCIL CHARTER 
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